

TECHNICAL REPORT

The advice-making process for school continuity in Norwegian secondary schools during autumn and winter, 2021

After-Action Review on evidence-based decision-making

www.ecdc.europa.eu

ECDC TECHNICAL REPORT

The advice-making process for school continuity in Norwegian secondary schools during autumn and winter, 2021

After-Action Review on evidence-based decision-making



This report was commissioned by the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC), coordinated by Jonathan Suk, Charlotte Deogan and Svetla Tsolova, and produced by Danny de Vries, Erik Baekkeskov, Olivier Rubin and Wesal Zaman, in collaboration with the Norwegian Institute of Public Health.

Acknowledgements

The group at the Norwegian Institute of Public Health who organised the After-Action Review were: Margrethe Greve-Isdahl, Elisabeth Astrup and Tone Kristin Bjordal Johansen. We acknowledge the invaluable contribution by all participants during the workshop as well as by the representatives of key organisations who were interviewed as part of this work.

Suggested citation: European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. The advice-making process for school continuity in Norwegian secondary schools during autumn and winter, 2021. Stockholm: ECDC; 2024.

Stockholm, June 2024

ISBN 978-92-9498-728-0 doi: 10.2900/849288 Catalogue number TQ-05-24-473-EN-N

© European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, 2024

Reproduction is authorised, provided the source is acknowledged

Contents

Abbreviations	iv
Summary	1
Background	1
Methods	1
Results	1
Conclusion	3
Introduction	4
After-Action Reviews	4
Focused After-Action Reviews on evidence-based decision-making	4
Norwegian focused AAR on advice-making for school continuity	5
Norwegian health emergency management structure	5
Norway's educational management structure	6
Definitions	6
AAR process and data-sources	7
Preparation	7
In-country visit	7
Timeline of events	9
Initial closing of schools	9
Development and implementation of the Traffic Light Model	10
Building the case for a regular testing strategy	10
Delta variant, post summer-infections, and shortage of tests	11
Omicron variant: increased uncertainty again	12
Stakeholder mapping	14
Advice-making process	15
Evidence used in the advice-making process	15
Dilemmas and values	18
Communication and coordination	21
Capabilities and resources	23
Lessons learned and good practice	24
Key lessons learned	24
Good practice	26
References	28
Annex 1. Literature reviewed in preparation	31
Annex 2. Workshop programme overview	32
Annex 3. Interview guide	33
Annex 4. Informed consent form	34
Annex 5. Timeline of relevant advice given	35

Figures

Figure 1. Evidence-Based Public Health framework. Based on Satterfield et al. (2009)	8
Figure 2. Traffic Light Model	10
Figure 3. Representation of the advice-making network as reported by 11 workshop participants	14
Figure 4. Evidence perceived to be used (green) and missing (red) during the advice-making process	15
Figure 5. Contrasting the meaning of 'prioritising children' in the two 'lines' of the school advice-making pro	ocess.18

Abbreviations

AAR After-Action Review

- AIGHD Amsterdam Institute for Global Health and Development
- Bufdir Norwegian Directorate for Children, Youth and Family Affairs
- DSB Norwegian Directorate for Civil Protection
- EEA European Economic Area
- EU European Union
- Hdir Norwegian Directorate of Health (Helsedirektoratet)
- NIPH Norwegian Institute of Public Health (Folkehelseinstituttet, FHI)
- TISK Testing-Isolation-Tracing-Quarantine
- TLM Traffic Light Model
- Udir Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training
- WHO World Health Organization

Summary

Background

This After-Action Review (AAR) investigates the use of evidence in Norway's advice-making process about school continuity in secondary (13–15 years old) and upper secondary schools (16–18 years old) during the COVID-19 pandemic. We focused on the time before and after the 2021 school holidays, particularly the period from the summer of 2021, the Delta wave, and up until Omicron appeared during the winter of 2021–22. The following questions were considered:

- How was evidence used to inform advice about school continuity during this period?
- What happened and who was involved?
- What influenced the advice-making process?
- Why did the advice-making process turn out as it did?

In Norway, children's daycare and schools were closed during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic on 13 March 2020 and gradually re-opened under strict Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) measures from 20 April 2020. Concern about the impact school closures had on the wellbeing and educational progress of children and adolescents versus concerns about COVID-disease in children, led to continuous discussions on the best way to protect this group throughout the pandemic. Increasing evidence showed low COVID disease severity in children and adolescents and evidence that transmission in schools was limited. Advice-makers developed and proposed a Traffic Light Model (TLM) with measures adaptable to the local epidemiological situation and different age groups as a means to keep schools open as much as possible. Later, this was followed by intensive efforts to roll out a regular antigen testing program to limit the use of quarantine and more intrusive IPC measures. Norwegian schools and preschools largely remained open throughout the pandemic, including during the second and third waves. Municipalities had the authority to make decisions about local school closures in response to local outbreaks, and school closures were always combined with full-time distance learning. Closures were limited to short-term closures and they were mainly in secondary schools. The Norwegian experience contrasts with that of many other countries where school closures were more frequent and lasted longer.

Methods

The AAR's core methodology is a process-driven learning exercise that builds on a qualitative review of a delimitated case. The case-study approach allows for in-depth explorations of how key advice travels through and across relevant organisations, as well as how it changes over time in light of new evidence. This involves identifying and making explicit any external pressures, informal practices, and networks (both within and across agencies) that affect the advice-making process. Data was gathered during a two-day consultive process with key stakeholders who had played a role in the advice-making process during the pandemic. Semi-structured interviews were also conducted during the week of the workshop and in the subsequent week. Stakeholders were identified by the Norwegian Institute of Public Health (NIPH) in cooperation with the Norwegian Directorate of Health (Hdir) and the Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training (Udir). Participants included in the facilitative workshop included representatives from the NIPH, Hdir, Udir, municipal medical officers from the Oslo, Lillestrøm and Bærum municipalities, and the Education Directorate at the County Governor of Oslo and Viken (Statsforvalteren). Additional interviews were conducted with representatives from the School Student Union of Norway (Elevorganisasjonen), Directorate of Children, Adolescents, and Family (Bufdir) and the Norwegian Ombudsperson for Children (Barneombudet).

Results

Early in the pandemic, the Norwegian government declared that children and adolescents' health and wellbeing should be prioritised. Yet, the advice-making process during the period of analysis can be characterised as having had two competing interpretations of children's best interest. Both approaches sought to reduce the pandemic burden for children. One interpretation of children's best interest led to keeping children at home to reduce the risk of infection and consequently a policy inclination toward closing schools – or moving to the highest risk level (red) in the traffic light model whenever new variants arrived. This group included more medically oriented actors and decision makers, and its view was also largely espoused by risk perceptions among the general public and strongly advocated by some teachers and teachers' organisations.

Another interpretation of what was in children's best interest was to avoid disruption of their everyday life, including keeping the schools open as much as possible. This approach said that the measures should not impact children more than the infection itself. This was supported by a group including i.e. the NIPH school group and actors related to the childcare and education sectors.

This group interpreted children's health broadly as a combination of social, physical, and mental wellbeing, and was also based on evidence of low COVID-19 disease severity in children and adolescents. This group also emphasised children's right to education. The AAR brought to light the challenging conditions under which this latter group had to bring the growing evidence to the decision-makers' table and be heard.

Sources of evidence for advice-making were varied, but broadly classifiable as expert groups, peer reviewed literature, modelling studies, anecdotal evidence, epidemiological registers and methods, contact tracing studies and educational and demographic surveys. Participants noted a continued need for more randomised controlled trials to test the effectiveness and impact of interventions, evidence on the risk perceptions of teachers, and lived experiences of students.

At times, participants experienced their advice-making work as a struggle against the tendency to throw the 'baby out with the bathwater' each time a new virus variant appeared, because each new variant of SARS-CoV-2 increased uncertainty. Fear and risk avoidance led decision makers and public perceptions back to the precautionary intervention of distance learning and reduced attendance/red level, and it appeared difficult to convince public opinion and teachers of alternative measures for children and adolescents. Some leaders and spokespersons in the response team sometimes did not appear fully up-to-date on the existing evidence to sufficiently advocate keeping schools open. At times, arguments made by the NIPH school group (responsible for technical and epidemiological scientific advice on schools and COVID-19) were not weighted or communicated further.

Sometimes the advice given by national authorities to schools was not actionable. For example, after the summer of 2021, NIPH and Hdir advised municipalities to administer antigen tests to students for the sake of avoiding quarantine and distance learning. However, test supplies were lacking at the same time as the country faced a new mutation (Delta). Participants also noted that advice was slow to trickle down the chain because discussions about the advice and interpretations of evidence had to be repeated at several levels, slowing down the process. Participants further recalled that advice-making was constrained by national laws, inhibiting flexibility in advice that could be offered to specific municipalities. Municipal medical officers also had to work to prevent local politicians from being stricter than national or municipal laws required.

Review participants noted that surge capacity was available. For instance, many retirees proved willing to volunteer for work as needs arose. However, recruitment of competent experts was challenging in both the public health and education fields. At the national level, those involved in advice-making who initially worked on the school issue described their work as 'a train that speeds up and is increasingly hard for others to jump onto'. This was made more challenging by the rapid growth of tasks because there was no time to sit down and better organise or reflect. This situation was prolonged because everyone kept believing that the end of the pandemic was near. Participants recalled that strong mutual solidarity helped them to cope and stay resilient. In addition, there was some (delayed) mental health support. Issues of overburdening were also mentioned by municipal medical officers.

Through the workshop and interviews with the AAR team, review participants derived the following lessons from what went well and not so well in this advice-making process:

- Give priority to children and related stakeholders as a separate focus-area in the outbreak response, organised across sectors, represented at a high level and with a formal position and mandate. In several ways, participants emphasised that children's and related stakeholders' interests and perspectives had been less vocal or represented in the focus period than they should have been. In some situations, it became a struggle in advice-making to take heed of effects social distancing measures could have on children's wellbeing. Here, more direct and persistent involvement of child or school-related stakeholders and representatives could have made a difference. Participants noted that there should have been a 'children's group' represented at a high level in all inter-agency forums and meetings from the start with a formal position and mandate. All issues regarding children, whether health or education and other, implies specific considerations to act on their behalf and with their best interest in mind.
- Recognise and remedy important data gaps. There were gaps in data, data standardisation and available evidence. Although the knowledge regarding cases, transmission and disease impact kept increasing, there was still a need for systematic knowledge regarding implemented measures, e.g. knowing how many schools were on red level or how many students were in quarantine each week, as well as data on student and teacher experiences in schools. Also, it proved impossible to conduct randomised controlled trials on the impact of targeted measures in schools, both on the effect on virus transmission and on students' general wellbeing and their learning.
- Recognise and remedy important gaps in capabilities. There was an urgent need expressed for more
 personnel and a better understanding of available supportive resources within organisations. Recruitment of
 competent experts was challenging in both the public health and education fields. Rapid growth of tasks
 and little time to sit down and better organise or reflect aggravated the situation. These factors generated
 stress and fatigue. Psychological support was lacking and at best, was late. Participants recalled that strong
 mutual solidarity, working together and pooling resources helped them to cope and stay resilient, despite
 intense stress and fatigue.

• Further boost coordination and collaboration. Participants generally lauded the ability of different organisations to work together, pool resources, and contribute their respective strengths to advice-making. However, such coordination and collaboration did not work equally well in every situation, and more could have been done. Remedies include several ways to further improve how different actors interact and find common purpose at local, regional, and the national levels, and between these levels.

With respect to good practice, participants from the national, regional, and municipal level contributed exemplary ways of working that they had developed and used. The AAR team identified four categories of these: 1) Data, analyses, and research outputs, 2) Organisation, 3) Collaboration, and 4) Communication.

Conclusion

Despite the official policy of prioritising children and adolescents, the advice-making process was influenced by different interpretations of what this prioritisation actually meant. One interpretation emphasised keeping children at home, protecting them (and their contacts) from infection, which led to a policy inclination toward closing schools or moving to the TLM's 'red' level (with distance learning) whenever new variants arrived. The other interpretation meant prioritising children by avoiding disruption of their everyday life, to a greater extent than was the case for the adult population. This included keeping the schools open as much as possible.

This AAR highlighted the challenge of bringing evidence to the decision-makers' table, despite robust data from a variety of sources, including expert groups, peer reviewed literature, modelling studies, anecdotal evidence, epidemiological registers and methods, contact tracing studies and educational and demographic surveys. The cumulative evidence supporting open schools was repeatedly called into question with each new mutation, and fear and risk avoidance led decision-makers and public perception back to the precautionary intervention of closing schools or 'red level' (with distance learning). Consequently, advice-making down the organisational chain was difficult and at times slow and seemingly inconsistent. Municipal medical officers sometimes had to convince local politicians and stakeholders not to implement stricter measures than required by national or municipal laws. In addition, advice given by national authorities to schools was not always actionable or constrained by national laws.

Four key, overall lessons emerged out of the AAR discussions:

- Give priority to children and related stakeholders as a separate focus-area in the outbreak response, organised across sectors, represented at high level and with a formal position and mandate;
- Important gaps in data should be recognised and filled;
- Important gaps in capabilities should be recognised and remedied;
- Coordination and collaboration should be further boosted.

Introduction

After-Action Reviews

After-Action Reviews serve as means for identifying best practice and areas for improvement for future health emergencies. An AAR is a country-led and country-owned initiative to conduct a qualitative review of actions taken to respond to an emergency with the purpose of identifying best practices, gaps and lessons learned [1,2]. Following an emergency response to a public health event, an AAR would identify what did and did not work well and how these practices can be maintained, improved, institutionalised, and shared with relevant stakeholders. AARs typically encompass a broad number of response dimensions which are investigated in a series of facilitated meetings with key stakeholders. Importantly, AARs are not evaluations and they do not seek to assign blame for suboptimal responses. Nor are they intended to assess individual performance or competency. Instead, they seek to identify learning opportunities and to contribute to the cycle of continuous quality improvement in emergency preparedness and response planning.

The World Health Organization (WHO) and the ECDC have developed guidance and methods for AARs across many different aspects of health emergencies [1-3]. Teasing out learning opportunities and lessons learned in the context of the COVID-19 responses appear particularly pertinent. As COVID-19 has developed into a long-running (or even endemic) health emergency, ECDC and WHO have developed Intra-Action Reviews [4] and In-Action Reviews [5] to ensure that important learnings and reflections can be undertaken while the emergency is still ongoing. An alternative approach to these interim AARs is to conduct an AAR on a particular aspect of the pandemic that is delimited both temporally and thematically. ECDC has referred to such an AAR as a focused AAR [5].

Focused After-Action Reviews on evidence-based decisionmaking

One important area for self-reflection and lessons learned was the role of evidence in advice-making processes during COVID-19 [6]. Advice-making encountered challenges in interpretating evidence and integrating it into the process, primarily due to uncertainty, time-pressure, and suboptimal guidelines and/or organisational structures [7,8]. Scientific evidence pertaining to the pandemic had also gone from being scarce in the initial phase to becoming so abundant a year later that it risked overburdening agencies with contradictory, non-contextual evidence of varying scientific quality [9,10]. An investigation of the intricacies of advice-making processes during such a complex and long pandemic demands a focused approach. Hence, in 2021, the ECDC commissioned and published a protocol for focused AARs aimed at understanding advice-making during the COVID-19 pandemic [5].

Focused AARs can shed light on advice-making processes underlying a particular decision (or group of decisions). The decision should ideally be both delimited temporarily and along sectoral lines. In the case of this AAR the decision concerned a non-pharmaceutical intervention that was decided on during a particular phase of the pandemic and pertained to schools.

Such a delimited case-study approach allows for in-depth explorations of a specific advice-making process and provides lessons for future health emergencies, both in-country and between countries. Importantly, the specific case functions as an entry-point into the review process and as an anchor for subsequent discussions, rather than a constraining factor in conversations with stakeholders. Participants in the AAR will often reflect on processes leading up to the specific decision, going back several months. The core methodology is to trace how key advice travels through and across relevant organisations as well as how it changes over time due to new evidence. This involves identifying and making explicit important external pressures (e.g. media, public, political, international, and so forth) on the advice-making process and gaining insight into any informal practices and networks (both within and between agencies) that affect the advice-making process.

The central question of the focused AAR is to determine the role of scientific evidence in the deliberations and decisions made by public health authorities in their process of developing policy advice. What types of evidence were available to public health experts when advising policymakers? What value and weight did public health experts place on different pieces of evidence? How did they adapt evidence to be applied to their own context? And, what happened when there was no conclusive scientific evidence available? Inspired by ECDC best practice for AARs, the findings of this focused AAR on evidence-based decision-making will be structured around three main sections:

- What happened and who was involved?
- What influenced the advice-making process?
- Why did the advice-making process turn out as it did?
- What should change and how can it be implemented?

To facilitate the use of AARs in European Union and European Economic Area (EU/EEA) countries, ECDC decided to conduct focused AARs on school interventions in Finland, Sweden, and Norway (this work is complemented by similarly oriented focused AARs on long-term care facilities in Norway and Georgia). In Finland and Sweden, the AARs focused on the advice-making process for school interventions from March through July 2020 in the initial stage of the pandemic, specifically the Alpha (November 2020–April 2021) and Omicron (December 2021–March 2022) phases. From these AARs we learned that initially, each new coronavirus variant renewed the scientific uncertainty and general anxiety and called for renewed consideration of restrictions on in-person schooling. In each of these later pandemic stages, each country's health and educational authorities were generally hesitant to recommend comprehensive closures of in-person schooling. The current report concerns the Norwegian experience on school interventions. In collaboration with the NIPH, the AAR was focused on the role of evidence in advice-making during the period from the summer of 2021, the Delta wave, and up until Omicron appeared during the winter of 2021–22 in secondary (13-15 years old) and upper secondary schools (16–18 years old).

Norwegian-focused AAR on advice-making for school continuity

In Norway, children's day-care and schools were closed during the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic on 13 March 2020 and gradually re-opened under strict IPC measures from 20 April 2020. Concern about the impact of these closures on children and adolescent's wellbeing and educational progress led to a continuous effort to keep schools open during the remainder of the pandemic. In collaboration with stakeholders from the education sectors, an innovative Traffic Light Model (TLM) [11] was proposed by NIPH, adaptable to the local epidemiological situation and age group. Norwegian schools and preschools implemented the TLM and remained largely open throughout the pandemic, including in the second and third waves. In response to local outbreaks, schools generally only used short-term closures and distance learning was mainly used in secondary schools [11]. This Norwegian experience contrasts with many other countries, where school closures were more frequent and longer. Analysing the advice-making process during the focus period is particularly interesting because it showcases how, after the initial rush to respond to the pandemic in 2020, routine and collaborative preparedness and response systems dealt with new uncertainties and translated emerging evidence into advice that could support keeping schools as open as possible. Illuminating the use of evidence in this advice-making process is thus likely to produce useful lessons for future pandemic preparedness and response in educational settings and beyond.

Norwegian health emergency management structure

The Norwegian Ministry of Health and Care Services (Helse- og omsorgsdepartementet) was initially the central crisis management ministry for handling the pandemic. Later on, the Ministry of Justice and Public Security took over this responsibility. Norway, like most of the other Nordic countries, followed the responsibility principle where the same agencies that are responsible in normal times retain their responsibility during times of crises. Concretely, this meant that two expert agencies, the Norwegian Directorate of Health (Hdir) (Helsedirektoratet) and the Norwegian Institute of Public Health (NIPH) (Folkehelseinstituttet), were highly involved in the decision-making processes. The NIPH served mainly as a scientific epidemiological advice body while the Hdir is an executive agency authorised under the Ministry of Health and Care Services with several roles, including administration and interpretation of health legislation. The Hdir was delegated responsibility for coordinating the COVID-19 response in the beginning of 2020 with the authority to impose regulatory measures during the pandemic. NIPH was responsible for monitoring the epidemic situation and offering evidence-based advice about infection control to national, regional, and municipal authorities. Generally, requests for advice was sent from the Ministry of Health and Care Services to both Hdir and NIPH, depending on the topic. During crises, Hdir consolidates the response advice of both agencies, and hence, to some extent superseded NIPH in managing the COVID pandemic, although ultimately, the Ministry of Health and Care Services decided which advice to follow. Several studies point to substantial overlapping roles and authority between the two agencies in practice [12,13]. In the case of schools, the Ministry of Education and Research received advice from multiple sources, including Udir and Bufdir. Overall, Norwegian decision making through this system was seen as more leaning more towards balancing several political interests, rather than being purely science-based [12].

Norway's healthcare system is mostly decentralised to the country's more than 350 municipalities. Norway's Infection Control Act explicitly places infectious disease authority at the municipal level. Municipalities, therefore, have the authority to respond to a health crisis by implementing a range of local non-pharmaceutical measures. Municipal medical officers (kommuneoverleger) are responsible for the local pandemic preparedness systems in terms of monitoring, documenting, and managing the response. As such, municipalities have a substantial degree of freedom to implement stricter (or in a few cases, more lenient) measures than those recommended. This led to an overall pattern of varied, localised response interrupted by shorter periods of nationwide coherent government response [12]. Different areas in Norway therefore had significant disharmony in measures during COVID-19. Cities tended to have higher incidence rates and more outbreaks than smaller communities, and city populations were

therefore subject to longer periods of stricter measures. On the other hand, some local governments outside urban areas used their powers to exceed national guidelines on use of quarantines, closing schools etc. [12].

Norway's educational management structure

Governance of the education system in Norway is shared between the central government, regional and local authorities. The Norwegian Ministry of Education and Research sets the goals and framework for kindergartens, primary and lower secondary schools, upper secondary schools, tertiary vocational education and higher education. The Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training is the executive agency for the Ministry of Education and has the overall responsibility for supervising kindergarten, education and the governance of the education sector. However, the Norwegian national assembly has adopted a decentralised administrative structure which delegates considerable authority and financial freedom of action to county governors and municipalities. This means that municipalities run primary and lower secondary schools and counties run upper secondary schools with much freedom. Block grants are given, and county and municipal authorities determine their activities according to existing legislation and regulations [14]. The Ministry of Education and Research emphasises the importance of placing local responsibility for didactical interpretation and adaptation with the school owner, in accordance with the Education Act and national regulations. Norway has generous funding at all levels of the education system. Public education is free, except at kindergartens where parents pay fees. Expenditure on education institutions as a percentage of GDP (for all educational levels combined) is one of the highest among OECD countries [15].

Definitions

This focused AAR makes use of two key concepts that require clarification upfront: (i) the advice-making process and (ii) the extent to which advice-making is evidence-based.

School closures

School closures in this AAR is understood as a closure of schools for in-person teaching for most classes with exceptions for children with special needs or where the parents were needed as part of the workforce. As distance learning was possible and used often, school closures did not mean discontinuing teaching or completely closing school premises for all students. In the Norwegian context, the red level in the TLM was an alternative to school closures. The red level had flexibility and used reduced physical presence, especially for older students, rather than complete closures of in-person learning (see Figure 2 below).

Advice-making process

Providing advice entails taking decisions on the best course of action and communicating them to the right stakeholders. Advice can be guided by individual experience and intuition, or it can be the result of a deliberative decision-making process among several people with the purpose of gathering and analysing information about different potential responses and then recommending and communicating a subset of those responses to policy makers. The advice-making process referred to in this AAR concerns the latter.

Formalised advice-making processes builds on organisational structures and practice that shape deliberations and influence what advice is considered and how it is addressed [16-18]. Advice-making also encompasses decisions relating to internal resource allocations, staff management, communication, implementation considerations and so forth. During the COVID-19 pandemic, experts from national and international public health agencies were typically highly involved in the deliberative advice-making processes that inform policy. However, advice-making is different from policymaking in that it only constitutes the first stage of the decision-making process that ultimately results in policy.

Evidence-based

One of the key properties of advice-making is that it is evidence-based or -informed [19]. Evidence in this context refers to scientific evidence that adheres to a set of academic standards. These standards might vary according to the field of inquiry but will usually encompass the collection and testing of empirical data according to scientific methods and models that have been validated by peers [20]. The body of scientific evidence, therefore, will mostly consist of systematically gathered data, reports produced and validated by expert-agencies and peer-reviewed scholarly publications both nationally and internationally. There is always an elusive element to scientific evidence because it is constantly evolving and being reinterpreted, as scientists continuously work to affirm or expound existing evidence, which could be observed clearly during the COVID-19 pandemic [21,22].

Other than using scientific evidence, the advice-making process can also draw on experience-based evidence [23], sometimes referred to as 'implementation-based evidence' [24] or 'ecological evidence' [25]. Experience-based evidence can be subject to scientific inquiries and interpretations but is not necessarily subject to the scientific process of setting up a specific research design and submitting to peer review. Experience-based evidence could come from implementing agencies that would be able to provide an assessment of the current situation and

feedback on how the given advice works in practice. The advantage of making decisions using experience-based evidence during health emergencies is the pace by which the evidence can be collected and interpreted.

What constitutes pertinent scientific evidence changes and shifts over time and is shaped by relationships between experts and their social, economic, organisational, and political environments. Experts are faced with a host of cognitive and institutional factors that influence interpretations of scientific evidence [18,26,27]. The interpretation of evidence is not only inherent to the scientific process, but also to the advice-making process, wherein identical pieces of scientific evidence in similar contexts can result in very different advice [18,28]. The underlying ideational and bureaucratic differences can create variations in how health experts produce advice during COVID-19 [16,29-31]. Importantly, therefore, even the best evidence can produce suboptimal advice under flawed advice-making processes.

AAR process and data sources

This section describes each step in the AAR process. The primary component of this AAR was an in-country visit. It consisted of a two-day consultative workshop and seven semi-structured interviews. The workshop had sixteen participants and seven complementary interviews were conducted. The text in this report refers to all informants as 'review participants'. All review participants were informed of the purpose of the AAR and signed informed consent forms (see ethical considerations). The AAR team recorded and transcribed workshop conversations and interviews and only took notes for use in the analyses in this report. For the sake of eliciting candour, participants' recollections and viewpoints are not attributed to any named individual.

Preparation

In preparation for the workshop, key representatives from NIPH met online with ECDC staff and AIGHD consultants on 23 September and 10 October, 2022. The meetings included discussion of the purpose and focus of the AAR, scheduling for the country visit, agreement on the format and scope of the workshop, and exchange of key documents of relevance to the advice-making process concerning school closures. Fourteen secondary sources were consulted in preparation for the country visit, shown in Annex 1.

In-country visit

Consultative workshop

The participatory consultation is the core activity of the AAR. It is a two-day workshop aimed at discussing the use of evidence in the advice-making process with key staff of the agencies who were involved in the recommendations relevant for the continued operation of schools during the period of study. The two-day consultative workshop took place on 25 and 26 January 2023, with participation from key NIPH staff (five participants), the Norwegian Directorate for Education and Training (Udir) (one participant), municipal medical officers from the Oslo, Lillestrøm and Bærum municipalities (three participants), the Norwegian Directorate of Health (Hdir) (two participants), and the Education Directorate at the County Governor of Oslo and Viken (*Statsforvalteren*) (one participant). The workshop was facilitated by two consultants from AIGHD and attended by two ECDC staff. A third consultant from AIGHD took notes. Henceforth, the AIGHD consultants and the ECDC staff are referred to as the 'AAR team.' The workshop took place in the NIPH office in Oslo.

The agenda for the consultative workshop is attached in Annex 2. The first day of the workshop focused on agreeing on a timeline of events; mapping out who was involved in the advice-making process and in what capacity; as well as discussing why the advice-making processes unfolded as it did with a focus on the use of evidence. The purpose was to reflect on how evidence influenced the advice-giving decision-making process as well as what evidence was available and how it was used (or not used). The second day focused on reflecting how people made sense of the situation and identifying and discussing major lessons about the use of evidence during key advice-making processes relevant for schools. The consultative workshop was guided by specific theoretical tools and methods, most notably the Evidence-Based Public Health framework (see analytical approach). On 27 January the consultants presented a hot debrief with broad-based participation from relevant stakeholders invited by the NIPH.

Interviews

The AAR team conducted a total of seven interviews with stakeholder representatives. Interviewees were identified and scheduled by NIPH. The interviews were semi-structured and open-ended, allowing them to cover comparable themes while also leaving room to pursue specific issues raised during the conversations. The interview guide is shown in Annex 3. One interview was conducted face-to-face at the NIPH office in Oslo. The rest were conducted online. Each interview took about 45 minutes. The seven interviewees included representatives from the School Student Union of Norway (*Elevorganisasjonen*), Directorate for Education and Training (Udir), Directorate of children, adolescents, and family (Bufdir) and the Norwegian Ombudsperson for Children (Barneombudet), and three further interviews with NIPH staff, including communications, the COVID-19 leader group, and the test trace isolation quarantine group.

Analytical approach

The data collected through the consultative workshop and interviews seeks to inform the advice-making process surrounding school interventions and derive lessons. Some key theoretical and methodological tools and techniques were used when gathering and interpreting the data. The interviews were semi-structured and relied on an interview guide.

The consultative workshop made use of a combination of written questions as well as select statements from academic papers, guidelines, or risk assessments that were used to facilitate the discussions. In collaboration with participants, the AAR team developed a timeline that was subsequently used as a point of reference during the remainder of the workshop. This established a common understanding of key events. Participants were also asked to draw ego-centric stakeholder maps illustrating the most important actors in the advice-given process on school closures. This included reflecting on actors that they thought had been missing in the process. This exercise both helped to visualise important interrelationships on the spot but was also used for a more thorough aggregate mapping exercise presented in this report (see Stakeholder Mapping).

The discussion of evidence was guided by a simplified version of the Evidence-Based Public Health framework [32], illustrated in Figure 1 below.



Figure 1. Evidence-Based Public Health framework

Based on Satterfield et al. (2009)

The advice-making process is assumed to be shaped by:

- the availability of best available scientific evidence (what type of evidence is used and how is it interpreted?);
- the state of crisis communication both internally in the emergency management system but also externally towards the public:
- the organisational capabilities and resources of advice-making and implementing bodies.

The framework was useful in encouraging participants to think through their advice-making process as dependent not only on evidence but also on other important external factors. In short, the framework embeds the advicemaking process in a larger socio-political environment. The framework, with its three overlapping factors, is used to structure the section on the advice-making process (see 'The advice-making process'-section).

Reporting

Reporting on key preliminary findings was done on a continuous basis during the visit, especially through the hot debriefing on 27 January. The present report has been subject to internal feedback and approval from ECDC and NIPH. Stakeholders participating in the AAR were also given the opportunity to read the report and provide feedback.

Ethical considerations

Written informed consent was obtained from all respondents. The informed consent form is included in Annex 4. The objective of the AAR was explained to the interviewees and workshop participants, and they were assured of their right to withdraw from the interview/workshop discussion at any time. Unless respondents explicitly confirmed in writing that they were willing to go on record, they remained anonymous in the reporting. Anonymity was pursued for all interviewees, and where it was not possible (due to easily identifying traits) the interviewees were explicitly made aware of this. All interview and field note materials were stored securely in AIGHD in compliance with Regulation (EC) No 45/2001 on the storage of personal data and ensuring citizens' privacy. Only the AAR team had access to it and any recording were deleted prior to the publication of this report.

Timeline of events

A summary of selected pieces of advice recalled by participants in the consultative workshop is shown in Annex 5. This Annex is not a complete review of all advice given but based on recall during the workshop through interactive remembering of events. In the following, a narrative overview will be provided on the history of advice giving during this period, based on data collected from the consultative workshop, interviews, and documents reviewed.

Initial closing of schools

As part of Norway's national lockdown in the first wave of COVID, all schools closed their in-person learning and moved to distance learning from 13 March to 20 April 2020ⁱ. In-person learning remained in place for children of healthcare personnel and those with other critical societal functions, and for children with special educational needs [33]. The Infection Control Act served as the legal basis for the school lockdown. The main argument for the lockdown was to stop the spread of the novel virus. At the time, no cost-benefit analyses were available to assess other impacts of intervention. However, the Holden reports estimated the economic cost of interventions that were implemented in society [34]. Their first report was published in April 2020 and concluded that the cost of closing schools was high in terms of parents not being able to work. The report did not look into long term costs on what this could mean for children's education and wellbeing.

On 27 March 2020, a temporary Corona law [35] was passed, granting the government power to make response decisions without involving parliament. This temporarily shifted legislative power to the government [33]. At the end of May, this law was replaced by a new temporary law to reduce the consequences of COVID-19 in schools and kindergartens [36]. The underlying rule was to offer education to all. If the schools were closed and they could not get an offer at school, they were entitled to get education at home. The schools' approach to education at home was primarily through digital means, which was possible, to a large degree, in Norway, due to a well-developed digital infrastructure. Parents in high-risk groups could also apply for an allowance to homeschool children if needed.

During this period, the Directorate of Youth, Families and Children (Bufdir) had started to lead a coordination group on COVID-19 issues for vulnerable children. The Ministry of Children and Families (*Barne- og familiedepartementet*) established the group in April 2020, with members from all directorates working with vulnerable children, including Bufdir, Udir, Hdir, NIPH as well as immigration services and the police [37]. The group monitored accessibility, referrals and the number of consultations for different health and social services for children and adolescents. Initially, they focused on vulnerable groups, but as the pandemic went into the second and third year, all children were regarded as potentially vulnerable, due to the duration of the pandemic and the burden of prolonged infection control measures. The group provided regular information about the situation for child welfare, and the first report was published on 20 April 2020. This supported and advised the re-opening of schools for all age groups as quickly as possible, and implement hygiene and other infection control measures in their facilities in order for them to remain open. The report was delivered to the coordinating body at Hdir and the Ministry of Children and Families. The group published 14 subsequent reports through the pandemic.

ⁱ Daycare and kindergartens reopened on 20 April, grade 1–4 reopened 27 April, grade 5 upward 11 May 2020 (after publication of 2. revision of the school IPC guidelines)

Development and implementation of the Traffic Light Model

During this period, more intense cooperation started between NIPH and Udir based on a shared concern and requested advice from the MOES regarding what could be done to safely keep schools open. As a result of this collaboration, the intersectoral 'school group' emerged. In May 2020, the legal changes, with a new law replacing the Corona law, became the basis for the NIPH school group to propose the use of a flexible Traffic Light Model (TLM), adaptable to the local epidemiological situation and to different age groups. The model is shown below in Figure 2 [11]. The advice was to assess proportionality locally rather than in one national rule, abandon incidence in the entire age group as a primary indicator, and consider including other indicators to measure impact. The model was first implemented in June 2020, when all schools had to operate on the yellow level as a minimum. However, many schools in Norway operated on the red TLM level with smaller cohorts and more comprehensive mitigation measures for the remainder of the school year [38].

Figure 2. Traffic Light Model

At all levels:

1) Stay at home if sick policy 2) Recommendations for testing 3) Hygiene measures 4) Testing, isolation, contact tracing, quarantine

	Green level	Yellow level	Red level
•	Normal organization of classes/groups Avoid unnecessary physical contact 1 meter distance between staff	 Normal classes (cohorts/bubbles) Limit mixing of cohorts Staff can alternate between cohorts 1 meter distance encouraged for adolescents pupils and atoff 	 Smaller groups (cohorts/bubbles) Limit mixing of cohorts One teacher per cohort 1 meter distance for students and staff (age dependent) Part-time online teaching for older
		 Avoid assemblies and crowding 	 Avoid assemblies and crowding

Contact reducing measures:

Source: Stebbings et al., 2022

Building the case for a regular testing strategy

Alongside the TLM model, the NIPH also started to work on the idea that frequent testing could be extremely beneficial for keeping schools open. Initially, PCR-testing in Norway was primarily available to symptomatic cases and healthcare personnel [39]. However, the testing capacity was rapidly increased and PCR tests soon became accessible to anyone through local municipal test stations, leading to increased testing rates as infections rose from August 2020, NIPH explored different testing strategies throughout the summer and autumn of 2020, as alternatives to physical distancing measures. At the time, evidence on testing effectiveness was still weak and many different rumours were circulating on social media.

Suggested test strategies included: a) testing symptomatic children; b) testing close contacts, to substitute for quarantine; and c) regular mass testing with PCR or antigen tests at certain indications. Following this, the NIPH TISK group in December 2020, issued a document advising exploration and use of testing as an alternative to quarantine and other contact reducing measures, such as limiting school attendance. The group also recommended increased use of antigen tests when PCR capacity was low. However, review participants noted that this advice was not practical at many times during the pandemic due to a lack of testing capacity nationwide. In the spring of 2021, different testing techniques were trialled (e.g. PCR on saliva samples and pooled nasal samples, antigen testing in and outside schools, professional testing, supervised - and unsupervised self-testing).

One COVID-19 case in a class usually led to the entire class having to quarantine, according to the TISK strategy. The burden of quarantine seemed disproportional to the burden of disease in these groups. By 25 May, the school group presented a strategy for the downscaling of TISK and reaching a green light on the TLM, for both the TISK steering committee and the outbreak response council at Hdir. Two alternatives for downscaling of TISK were presented:

- Contacts of a COVID-19 positive individual should stay home only if they get symptoms;
- Replace TISK with TIST, where the added 'T' signifies testing close contacts instead of quarantining them.

This advice was followed by constant discussions, especially about the lack of tests, which should be free of charge and distributed by the municipalities. It was noted in the workshop that many teachers were sceptical about the idea of regular testing. There were concerns about the risk reducing effect of the testing strategies, and if this would imply increased risk of infection and/or having to quarantine/isolate for long periods. In addition, they worried they would have to use their time on testing assistance rather than teaching. However, despite these concerns, the NIPH issued the general advice in late spring 2021 that frequent testing of students was a better tool for limiting transmission than limiting school attendance. On 27 May Hdir advised that schools with regular testing would be able to go to the green levelⁱⁱ.

Because of the uncertainty regarding the availability of antigen tests internationally, NIPH and HDIR recommended using methods and infrastructure for PCR on pooling of nasal samples in all Norwegian health regions. This recommendation was not followed up by the government.

In the summer of 2021, the TISK group used data from a pilot study of frequent testing at several schools in Oslo to model the strategy. It concluded that regularly testing children in schools was feasible, especially for secondary school students. The argument was that frequent testing could be substitute for school closures; as by rapidly finding those infected and isolating them, infection wouldn't spread, and schools wouldn't be sites for transmission. This effect would increase as the testing regime stayed in place. As an NIPH participant recalled:

'We did not have real-world data for how effective it was. But we could see that this was possible and based on our modelling and available literature, it was likely to be better than closing schools.' (NIPH participant).

The underlying aim of keeping schools open using this strategy was further substantiated by a report in June 2021 by the County Governors educational secretariat. This 'Parr report' summarised findings from the many reports produced by the Bufdir group on vulnerable children, complemented by consultations with several groups and children in high schools and student unions [40]. These results informed policy making, as Bufdir, Udir, and eventually also Hdir, advised their ministries to replace quarantines with a testing regime and go to green light after the summer (unless there were high transmissions locally). At the municipal level, medical officers advised prioritising the vaccination of teachers, regular testing (twice per week) in case of increased incidence rates and abandoning the TLM.

Delta variant, post summer-infections, and shortage of tests

On 3 September 2021, ECDC reclassified the Alpha variant from a variant of concern to a de-escalated variant, due to its limited impact on vaccine-induced immunity and the drastically reduced circulation following the emergence of the Delta variant (B.1.617.2) [41]. The Delta variant established itself in Norway, during the summer when schools were closed for the school holiday. By August 2021, the adult population had largely been vaccinated. Unvaccinated adolescents in secondary and upper secondary school had the highest infection rates at this time, and the incidence rates rapidly increased when schools reopened. The senior year high school-students were vaccinated along with the adult population above 18 years, i.e. mainly before the start of the school year. Recommendations to vaccinate adolescents aged 16-17 years came in June 2021 and was delivered to the Ministry of Health and Care Services at the same time as the first reports of mRNA-vaccine induced myocarditis in young adult males was being reported, which resulted in a delayed implementation of the recommendation and a renewed evaluation and recommendation in August 2021. In addition, there was a lack of vaccines and therefore, vaccination was slightly delayed compared to some other countries and started at the beginning of September. This meant that prioritising low risk groups like adolescents would mean that other groups of adults which had a slightly higher risk would have to be postponed.

In early autumn 2021, the NIPH TISK group responded by reaffirming its advice to test children in schools frequently using antigen tests, instead of more invasive school measures and the use of quarantine. Home testing was considered the best method to limit spread until the adult population was completely vaccinated. However, the problem was that municipalities did not have sufficient access to self-tests, and PCR tests required more resources

ii Experiences from the spring were formalised into a report published in November 2021. See: https://www.fhi.no/globalassets/dokumenterfiler/rapporter/2021/jevnlig-testing-var-2021.pdf

than were available. Participants from municipalities noted that this was a difficult situation for them. They communicated with NIPH to argue that this advice needed to be adjusted according to the test supply situation. Some municipalities tried to buy tests in the open market. Sharing was also challenging:

'We were asked to distribute tests between municipalities, but we never knew when we were going to be hit.'

Schools had opened at the green level after summer (for the first time since the beginning of the pandemic). However, many municipalities soon went to the yellow level as a result of increasing infection rates due to the new mutation and limited testing capacity. Similarly, the agreement made during the summer when the Ministry of Heath decided to follow the advice from NIPH and Hdir to test, was no longer relevant, as the lack of tests rendered the advice to test school students impossible to follow. New advice had to be worked out according to this situation. This shifting advice was difficult and frustrating for all parties; both NIPH, municipal public health officers, school personnel and students.

'We had to come again with new advice. The tests were not available. The municipal doctors could not handle all the testing because the advice came too late [to prepare sufficient testing capacity]. It was a total chaos. '

Despite this, this period appears relatively short lived. Later in the autumn of 2021, the NIPH testing group reviewed whether testing was implementable and concluded that despite reports of difficulties, adherence to testing was still quite high and the strategy was accepted.

During the autumn period, the school group advised a return to normal operations for schools and kindergartens (only basic IPC measures), the use of the TLM only by local authorities for local outbreaks and using antigen testing rather than limiting access to physical presence at school.

Moreover, analysed data from late 2020 showed how many teachers were infected compared to other professions, like bartenders and drivers [42].

'We saw that more teachers were infected in Oslo than in other areas [compared to similar public professions], but overall, at the national level [infection rates in different professions were] almost the same and it showed that the risk was not higher for teachers than other groups. '

However, the new information did not seem to reach teachers or the public. Even though the results were shared directly with the teachers' organisations, they did not seem to believe the results were correct. Many remained worried about infections.

Omicron variant: increased uncertainty again

The Omicron (B.1.1.529) variant of SARS-CoV-2 was first reported to the NIPH on 30 November 2021, notified by a local laboratory in Oslo after a case emerged resulting from a local Christmas party. On 7 December the government mandated the TLM to be reintroduced nationally.

'Our modelling showed that Omicron would be severe, and it would be very difficult to stop. At that time, we did not know what the public effect would be. We did know that it was a milder infection. We wanted to stay on the safe side. However, already in January we knew that Omicron was mild and not harmful to the vast majority of children.' (NIPH review participant)

Although most agreed that the Omicron wave would be severe in terms of numbers, the sentiment that it would be severe in terms of severe disease and death, and the wish to stay on the safe side, was not shared by all NIPH personnel involved. However, the level of fear and trust in the modelling report was high among many, both at NIPH and in the government.

During this period, the Udir actively advised Ministry of Education and Research, including letters sent on the 10 and 11 December, advising them not to implement the red level as a countrywide measure. Local needs varied considerably, and it did not seem proportionate to put all schools on red in the entire country.

Public and political anxiety and scientific uncertainty about the impact of this new mutation also led to the discussion to start the Christmas holiday early so to avoid quarantine and the spread of infection at Christmas, which some municipalities decided to do. There was also a push to close schools in many municipalities.

The NIPH school group and Udir argued strongly against both school closures and starting the holiday early. Based on the importance of keeping children in school as much as possible and the increasing observations that the Omicron variant caused very few severe infections in children, they advised to use the yellow light level nationally for all grades, and only local use the red level if needed. They also referred to the recent vaccination and low infection rates among adolescents in secondary schools to emphasise it was unnecessary to put secondary schools at the red level. With most adults vaccinated and hence reduced risk of severe disease, the argument for reducing transmission among children to protect the adults from getting infected did not seem valid anymore. The advice was given formally in an assignment from NIPH and Hdir on 13 Dec 13 2021 [43].

On 16 Dec 2021, the government issued the policy to implement the yellow level for all grades 1-10 nationally, and the red level for grades 11-13. In addition, the pupils should be tested before returning to school after Christmas holiday.

In addition, in schools that considered moving to the red level, regular testing and a lower TLM-level was recommended as a preferred alternative. This only applied to schools with a high number of COVID-cases and where the local situation was dire with high infection rates and a high burden on the healthcare system. The NIPH advised to shield the youngest pupils from testing as long as possible and rather test teachers or parents if necessary. A school group participant noted:

'We were not worried about the infections anymore, but it was trying to avoid school closure that became the aim of the testing strategy '.

Overall, the sentiment to keep schools away from the red level was shared by all participants in the workshop. However, despite this, the government still moved to red level for upper secondary schools. According to school group participants, 'fear overrode everything that we were advising.'

In principle, the red level in the TLM should not imply a complete lock-down, but in the end, it was up to local municipalities to implement and adapt the measures. Participants noted that overall, a red level technically meant that a lot of schools had to close due to limited classroom and staff capacities. Furthermore, new rules for quarantine for teachers meant they had to quarantine if they had been in close contact with a case, even though they were vaccinated. Many teachers in quarantine further strained the schools' capacity. At the municipalities this advice had to be weighed against local spikes in infections at individual schools.

'For some municipalities and for some single schools it was very difficult [to run the school without staff present], and we had dialogue with these municipalities, and we supported their decision to close. '

One of the arguments made by the County Governor was also that because of the legal right to education, keeping children at home during Christmas meant having to keep them longer in school in the summer. Some municipalities bypassed this by providing online teaching, which formally meant they were not closed, and hence did not have to substitute lost days.

After the Christmas holidays, the infection rates went up, likely driven by increased socialisation during the period. Based on growing evidence for the low impact of the new mutation, on 13 Jan. 2022 the government opened school for grades 11-13 nationally to resume on the green level. In January 2022, the NIPH advised to let teachers test rather than quarantine, remove social distancing measures in schools at all levels (green light in TLM), and test only symptomatic cases. The impact of the measures was seen as high and emotional. A NIPH participant noted:

'It was the hardest period for me. As a public health physician, my aim is to reduce public harm and increase public health. We had long realized that some of the restrictive measures were harmful to children.'

On 12 February 2022, the government changed policy by lifting all school measures nationally as part of the lifting of all measures in society overall.

Stakeholder mapping

To map their contacts, each workshop participant drew an ego-network map of organisations that they had interacted with during the focused-phases. The ego-network map that participants were asked to draw puts the person at the centre, related organisations in the periphery, and lines connecting the person to the organisations. This exercised yielded 11 individual's networks, where they identified 66 nodes and 108 edges (connections), shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Representation of the advice-making network as reported by 11 workshop participants

Node sizes represent their importance in the network (in-between centrality/degree centrality), as indicated by the number of mentions of nodes by workshop participants. The colours of the nodes represent whether they were mentioned often (green) or rarely (purple). The thickness of the line between the nodes represents the number of connections between the two nodes. Note: FHI = NIPH

To analyse these data, the Gephi analytical programme was used to create a combined stakeholder social network visualisation based on all the individually drawn ego-network of participating members of the workshop. The undirected network visualisation represents an approximation of the interactions amongst different actors. It is important to realise the time restraints of the exercise and hindsight biases in the visualisation presented above.

Degree Centrality measures the importance of each node in relation to the number of connections that they have in the network. School Group (NIPH), The Norwegian Directorate of Health (HDIR) and The Norwegian Directorate of Education and Training (UDIR) and County Governors respectively are the most mentioned nodes in the network. If FHI (NIPH) is put in one Node, then it is the most important node in terms of connection for the entire network (in-betweenness) and in terms of being the most mentioned node (Degree Centrality). A strong connection between FHI, UDIR and HDIR is evident during the advice-making process, where the bulk of the connection is established between the NIPH School Group and UDIR.

There are three levels of community groups (national, the regional and the municipality). The municipality level has a high number of individual nodes connected to it from the local level, but it is obvious from the analysis that the municipality level, despite being connected to NIPH, county governors, UDIR and HDIR, is still not as strongly connected to the regional and national level as the national level organisations are connected amongst themselves.

Advice-making process

This section discusses the major factors that shaped the advice-making processes, and it is structured around four main categories. Developing this description of the process began from the Evidence-Based Public Health framework introduced to workshop participants to inspire their discussion (Figure 1). Through the discussion and review of the available materials, the AAR team was able to identify four categories of influential factors. As anticipated in the Evidence-Based Public Health framework, the first category relates to the collection and interpretation of **evidence**. Here, the focus is on what evidence was used (and what was lacking), and how the evidence was integrated into the advice-making process. The second category is **dilemmas and values**. This category emerged during the workshop because participants repeatedly and frequently emphasised how values had to be negotiated and settled in advice-making, and how such dilemmas persistently shaped their advice-making. The third category, also anticipated in the Evidence-Based Public Health framework, is **communication and coordination**: how the advice was communicated to the public at large, to school practitioners and associations and regional health authorities, and inside and between agencies and institutions. The fourth identified category of factors shaping advice-making is combinations of **capabilities and resources**. Such factors mattered at all levels of the advice-making process and had consequences for how advice could be developed and implemented.

Evidence used in the advice-making process

As indicated in the timeline, the period of analyses shows the use of various forms of evidence emerging at different moments, used by different agencies involved for their advice-making. Based on the discussions in the workshop and interviews we have categorised evidence in several broad categories, shown in Figure 4 below.

Figure 4. Evidence perceived to be used (green) and missing (red) during the advice-making process



Expert groups

A very important source of information was expert groups. Broadly we can distinguish two such groups: on the one hand, professional experts were consulted as reference groups by advice-makers. One example is the Norwegian Pediatric Association. Another, less visible example are school nurses or the public health nurse organisation, which from time to time provided information to the NIPH school group. Another form of expert groups were experts in various fields, i.e. public health epidemiology or education, who were brought together early in the pandemic to address specific crisis topics. These groups not only bring years of experience working in their respective fields but based on this experience also obtained specific roles in amassing and interpreting data and information, forming an increasing ad-hoc expertise along the way. A clear example of this is the intersectoral school group itself, which includes actors form several agencies in the education domain, or the expert subgroups in NIPH, such as the NIPH school group and the NIPH TISK group (test, isolation, and quarantine). These groups gave advice to the NIPH leader group that eventually finalised the advice to the Hdir and the Ministry of Health and Care Services.

Similarly, Udir brought together an expert group on reopening schools by instruction of the Ministry of Education. Bufdir coordinated a broadly represented intersectorial group to assess the impact of measures in schools and leisure activities on children, called 'the coordination group for vulnerable children'. The coordination group started out focusing on vulnerable children, but later in the pandemic their mandate was widened to view all children as potentially vulnerable due to the duration of the pandemic and implemented measures. What we see here is a nesting of advice layers, and the development of expertise during crisis time.

Peer reviewed literature

Advice-makers also used peer-reviewed literature. At the NIPH, systematic reviews were conducted to see how COVID-19 had affected children and to what extent they were spreading the virus. As evidence grew and systematic reviews were conducted by others, these were consulted. An important database frequently consulted was from the Canadian McMaster Universityⁱⁱⁱ [44] as well as ECDC risk assessments on COVID-19 in children and the role of school settings in transmission (at a later phase) [45]. In the early pandemic stages, the school group was focused on trying to systematically gather information but found that the few studies that were published had different conclusions depending on their methods and context, and that some of the published articles were not of good scientific quality. It was emphasised several times that much of the international data was inconsistent with the Norwegian context, and hence, of limited value for developing national advice. This also included reports from WHO and ECDC that were often perceived to be too generic. Later in the pandemic, the scarcity of literature was replaced by a deluge of articles, of which many were not peer-reviewed (pre-publications).

Modelling studies

Using epidemiological or other data, many countries including Norway tried to model scenarios to predict the effects of measures and strategies. Some early modelling studies came from the United States and United Kingdom. The NIPH itself developed models based on basic data collected in the field, including saliva samples. This formed a first basis for arguing that regular testing was feasible for school children, especially secondary school students, although data on its effectiveness was missing. There were also socio-economic modelling studies, such as the Holden cost-benefit analyses. These reports were used by NIPH because cost-benefit analyses of specific measures were lacking.

It was noted that modelling studies as evidence was challenging. While it had a very high impact amongst politicians, the uncertainties were not sufficiently considered, and models were often interpreted as risk assessments. For example, there were several modelling studies from Imperial College, London (UK) that implied, amongst other things, that closing schools could reduce community transmission of the COVID-19 when it was added to other social distancing measures. The assumption in this model was that children and adults transmitted the virus to the same degree. However, evidence from transmission studies did not support this, but rather showed that children transmitted the disease to a lesser extent than adults. Still, the main interpretation among some leaders was that letting children attend school would add to community transmission, even though the authors of the study noted that school closure would have less impact than other infection prevention measures and did not evaluate what the effect was of schools that had implemented infection prevention measures. Participants noted that,

when the big modelling studies showed that [COVID] is going to have a huge impact if you don't close schools, even though we tried to criticize the model, it still impacted the advice provided.

Anecdotal evidence

This type of evidence is based on personal experience or observation, often collected in a casual or non-systematic manner from individual accounts. Several forms of anecdotes existed. On the more systematic side, municipal medical doctors noted that they had weekly and even daily contact with school directors and communal leaders:

'We had weekly meetings with all the principals or the leaders of municipalities. They were very much incorporated in the local advice-giving. I had a couple of meetings with the schools and teachers when there were a lot of concerns at specific schools. But we did not have the chance to speak to all teachers'.

Furthermore, every municipal medical officer had close contact with NIPH. According to NIPH participants,

we had a really tight dialogue about what was happening. We had a good sense of what was going on at schools. We knew all of these people in charge. We also had different meetings at these settings.

ⁱⁱⁱ See also the Norwegian summary: https://www.fhi.no/publ/2020/risiko-for-smitte-av-covid-19-pa-skoler-og-i-barnehager/

In addition, municipalities received email and calls from a lot of parents every day:

'Our role is publicly available. We got 150 to 200 e-mails coming up every day!'

Municipalities in turn forwarded this information further up the chain through their weekly interactions with county governors, or regional level administration, including some deeper dialogue with chosen municipalities. In this way, anecdotal information from schools, teachers and students came from counties to Udir.

Epidemiological

The NIPH health registry included several sources of information, including the national emergency preparedness register (Beredt C-19), the Norwegian Surveillance System for Communicable Diseases (MSIS), the National Population Register, and the national outbreak alert system (VESUV). Registry data were also coupled with contact tracing data at the municipal level, including schools [11]. The municipal medical officers were responsible for collecting contact tracing data in their respective municipalities.

'We had conversations at the individual level. We would trace individuals that had infections from, for example, their aunt and then more students would be infected in that class. So that is how we tracked. Most of the students were not infected in school but were infected outside school. It was an excel [spread sheet]. We had a team of contact tracers who did all the individual tracing and then we would put them in one sheet.'

Contact tracing studies

The NIPH led a contact tracing study in schools called, 'The Corona Child Study', where children who had been to school during the infective period were included, and children and staff in the same cohort were tested twice to evaluate the secondary attack rate [38,46]. The two studies from this contact tracing study were from 2020-2021 (Wuhan- and Alpha-variant periods). They showed that the secondary attack rate among pupils and staff in school was very low. The evidence from these studies was used actively in advice-making, but it was difficult to achieve acceptance for the results, especially with the arrival of each new variant.

Educational and demographic surveys

A final broad class of evidence includes educational and demographic surveys. On the education side, the Udir conducted public surveys, addressing school leaders, school owners and teachers etc. with questions about COVID-19. This was used in advice-making and reflected in the Education Mirror. The Education Mirror is the Directorate's annual publication including statistics and research about the kindergarten, primary, and secondary education sector [47]. Another source of information is the national student survey, which although not directly referenced in the workshop, was mentioned as an important source of information for the student association. In addition to these data sources, evidence came from surveys done by different academic institutions. One of these was the UNGdata cross-national data collection scheme (Oslo Metropolitan University), designed to conduct youth surveys at the municipal level in Norway [48]. Another evaluated information about public trust in the 'Pandemic rhetoric' research project (University of Oslo) [49].

Relevant evidence lacking from the advice-making process

Workshop participants pointed to two additional types of evidence that would have been beneficial to have in the advice-making process:

First, despite the anecdotal evidence collected from school directors and other stakeholders, there was a lack of knowledge regarding the student and teacher experiences in schools. At the Hdir, it was noted that it was difficult to understand the problems at school level. More systematic feedback from schools would have been helpful, in particular on the practicalities. For instance, we lack information about the actual, local use of distance learning. It was noted by one review participant that while the idea behind closing the cafeteria was to avoid students sitting close together, the result was that they all sat close together in the hallways. However, these concrete, practical challenges were not sufficiently picked up at higher levels of advice-making.

The Minister for Education held regular 'COVID-19 follow-up' meetings with Udir teachers' unions, student unions and other relevant stakeholders. The NIPH school group was invited to present the current knowledge on the COVID-situation, transmission in schools and infection rates among staff. The NIPH was also invited to answer questions from teachers, students and parents through webinars and other means (meetings, video messages, Q&A sessions etc.) in different teachers' unions. However, while some were vocal and easily reachable, it was difficult to connect with less vocal students, sometimes with less resources and possibly more vulnerable. Thus, the feedback from students was likely unbalanced. Interestingly, students themselves seemed to see their participation in meetings at the Ministry of Education and Research Ministry of Education and Research during the pandemic more as information-dissemination sessions rather than places of dialogue based on equal representation.

'We did not give advice as much as we got data on what was happening. We got a prestation from FHI [NIPH] at the start of each meeting and then we could ask questions. We had five meetings and follow-up meetings. We had contact with the education directorate. Every meeting, we started saying that I am not a doctor and expert on this. So, it was really hard to give advice and influence decisions, because for this kind of advice one needs a degree and knowledge... I appreciate the information we got, but I would have liked if the contact between our organization and FHI [NIPH] was closer.'

There was also insufficient information from teachers about their perceptions and experiences. While teachers' unions were vocal in their point of view, the actual perception of teachers themselves was not systematically obtained. Some studies were conducted, but these focused on infection rates or how they handled digital teaching, but not social-behavioural attitudes and risk perceptions. A school group participant noted that the dominant focus was on children, and less so on teachers 'I think we fell short here.'

There was a substantial knowledge gap on what impact targeted measures in schools, including closures, had on students and their learning. In several publications the perception was expressed that

'there is an urgent need to evaluate the effect of school closures on disease transmission vs the negative effects on children in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic ` [50].

One of the issues expressed by researchers from the NIPH, was that efforts to start systematic trials failed several times.

'You needed to have approval from all participants to carry out an RCT. We would need approval from every parent and that was impossible. In addition, the politicians were afraid to start a study on it, because they thought it would increase infections. '

Therefore, trials could not be carried out. 'We were told to implement the measures, but we could not do the pilot.'

Dilemmas and values

Ambiguity about the meaning of 'prioritising children'

The Norwegian government declared early that children and adolescents should be prioritised in the pandemic response. Thus, the overarching principle in the advice-making process was the value-based idea that the needs of children needed to be prioritised over other issues. However, this did not automatically translate to a political will locally to keep schools and preschools open at the expense of other sectors.

Despite the overall agreement on prioritising children, the understanding of what this meant, differed. The participants referred to two 'lines' of interpretation of evidence and considerations, as shown in Figure 5.

Figure 5. Contrasting the meaning of 'prioritising children' in the two 'lines' of the school advicemaking process



In the 'health line' – roughly comprised of representatives from Hdir, the Ministry of Health and Care Services, teachers, and reflected also in DSB coordination meetings – prioritisation of children tended to be explained as the need to keep them at home in order to minimise social contact and hence, virus transmission and disease. This view can be said to be driven by a medical idea that in this crisis, 'health' equated to protection against SARS-COV-2.

The overriding concern was limiting rates of infections. On the other hand, the 'education line' – roughly compromised of representatives from Udir, Bufdir, the Children's Ombudsman, and the NIPH outbreak response subgroups (including NIPH school group) –argued from the beginning that to prioritise children meant keeping them in school. Health was considered in a broader perspective and pointed to documentation showing that school closures have profound negative consequences for students' learning, well-being, and mental health. Schools are closely linked to other childcare services, and serve as coordinating units for vulnerable children and children with learning disabilities. From this perspective, participants noted that they 'were less afraid of infections and more afraid of school closures '. Keeping children out of schools (=harm) did not justify the benefit (=decreasing infection rates). From the point of view of the NIPH school group, evidence for the effect of school closures on transmission was lacking at the onset of the pandemic. As more evidence was gathered, it showed little or inconsistent benefit of school closures for limiting transmission, further strengthening the view that school closures caused children more harm than good.

While this is an oversimplification, as there clearly is a middle ground and not everyone at the mentioned institutions thought about this the same way, workshop participants still grounded their overall experience of the school response in this overall dichotomy. They noted that at times the different views between these lines were striking and led to heated debates. For example, one NIPH participant noted:

'The Directorate of Health was more likely to give the advice to shut down the schools. Both in the general public and the Norwegian Directorate of Health and sometimes even at the top leadership levels of FHI [NIPH]. We had quite harsh public debates between FHI and the Directorate of Health. At times we felt a bit alone, because many believed that the opening of schools was dangerous even though the research we provided supported keeping schools open. '

This sentiment was also expressed at the county and municipal levels. One participant noted that the Directors of Health and the Directors of Education at the County Governor's level 'lived in different realities', with the municipality receiving two completely different views on the same issue. Moreover, many participants from the 'education line' felt that there was a level of disbelief regarding the presented epidemiological data. Participants from the school group noted:

'The Directorate of Health did not believe our data and sometimes we had to explain it within NIPH as well. Some of the leaders in the outbreak response were not always up-to-date with the data or what knowledge we had generated from these data, and we had to provide information about it to them within the institutions. These leaders were often the ones who were going to meetings where implementation of measures was discussed, and we wanted to make sure that this information was being used externally as well. '

Making this more complex was that overall, the public opinion supported closing schools [51]. The roles of NIPH and Hdir differ: NIPH is working mainly on surveillance and advice regarding infection control, while Hdir is supposed to take a broader perspective society wise and has judicial authority. Because Hdir's role is to put policies into action and implement them, their views may have to align quicker with broader public sentiment. At the same time, the broader mandate also provided less time to attend to and take in new kinds of information and perspectives. One review participant explained this as follows:

'I feel maybe that the bureaucracy was maybe the hardest part to convince, and I think that - I hope that - it was not because they didn't want to listen and understand this obligation, I think it was just that they had so much to do, and everything that came from above they were supposed to do very quickly, and so they were using the thinking that they all always had done. And their job is to look at the health perspective of it. So, they used what they already knew `.

Others affirmed this perspective noting that decisions regarding advice were sometimes so quick and purely based on medical perspectives that high level education bureaucrats had to come in 'kicking and screaming' to get attention for their point of view. Eventually this seemed to have made some impact, as 'decisions and advice later tended to be broader and more inclusive, and we were involved more in the second half [of the pandemic] than the first half. '

A key player of political influence was the teacher unions. Norway has several such unions: Lærernes Yrkesforbund, Utdanningsforbundet, Skolenes landsforbund, Skolelederforbundet (for leaders in educational institutions) and Norsk Lektorlag (for academic teachers). One interviewee explained that, in particular, Utdanningsforbundet and Norsk Lektorlag were generally more in favour of closing schools and pushed for measures on the red level. As it seems, these unions held the strongest opposing view to some of the 'education line' participants in the workshop^{iv}. Participants expressed their view that the teachers did not want to listen to the increasing evidence that there was not a much larger risk for teachers than other professions in the public sphere.

^{iviv} Indicative of this strive was that none of the teacher union representatives were able or willing to join the AAR workshop and were not available for interviews.

While the teacher's voices were also not in unison on the matter, unions activated their base and seemed to have censored some of the communication efforts made by NIPH and others to present epidemiological data and evidence. For example, the NIPH held webinars and developed small information movies with the Ministry of Education, but these were not distributed among members of their organisations. Many review participants noted that an additional problem that further halted a solution or compromise at a later stage, was that teachers were not prioritised for vaccinations like health workers were.

Differences over what rights to include in advice making

As noted in the previous section, overall approaches, and ways of thinking about the meaning of 'health#, influenced what conclusions were taken from various lines of evidence. To review participants, this seemed at times almost to equate to an influence of personal views and values, in advice making. This could at times result in a level of selectivity in picking evidence to back up your position:

'So if you have already made up your mind, you can always find some publications that confirm that point of view. So, you can call it evidence against evidence, but you have to look at how good the evidence is.'

Several participants gave examples of how this affected evidence-based advice making. For example, one participant noted:

'there were others who did not want to listen to what I said. To prioritise children is to not send them to school, they argued. So, it was very hard to get through to them the evidence we got from the authority [NIPH].'

On the other hand, there were also roles and positions that provided grounds to take on a certain perspective. The same participant, as such, noted that:

'My job was to keep schools open and when I talked to people about that, people were surprised, because they wanted them to stay home.'

The expressed conviction to keep the schools open at a deeper level is related to human rights. From the beginning, the 'education line' viewed the issue as one related to the rights of children to go to school for social, physical, and psychological wellbeing reasons [52]. In particular, the Norwegian Children's Ombudsman (Barneombudet) participated in the advice-making process, not necessarily from an evidence-based point of view, but from a rights-based perspective. They supported keeping the schools open, and used their trusted, institutional power to back the education line's arguments. Their role was to speak on behalf of children.

'Because there is not a lot of actors speaking for Children's Rights and the situation and interest of children in a way that we do. They are very fragmented. Some of them are focusing on child welfare, on health. So, for us who are all watchdog for overall children's interest and have a position as we have, I think that was very valuable for the interests of children in this situation.'

As a review participant noted, the legal voice of the Children's Ombudsman concerning children's right to education was a key factor keeping the balance between these opposing views in the advice-making process:

'So, it was quite sharp fronts, between us and the teacher's unions. And I think that if we didn't have an ombuds office for children in Norway, the balance would not be good. And we spoke with a very strong voice from the beginning and made it even stronger during the pandemic, because of course, the media was also interested in what we meant, and they understand the legal argumentation very clearly.'

One of the implications of uncertain evidence is that when new variants emerged, the process of building up the evidence base had to start again. In the workshop, participants from the 'education line' expressed frustration about their experience that with each new mutation, the 'health line' again reverted to the precautionary 'close down schools' argument and evidence had to be re-stated.

Conflicting demands

The Ministry of Health and Care Services, Ministry of Education and Research Ministry of Education and Research , and the Ministry of Children and Families all issued assignments, often jointly, requesting advice. The Ministry of Health and Care Services mostly asked to also take the assignments of the other ministries into account at the same time. These assignments were given to the Directorates and NIPH, which discussed them in and between their institutions and coordination bodies. However, stakeholders outside this were usually not involved and privy to the weighing of information and evidence that led to the final advice. This meant that when advice or national decisions flowed down to municipalities or counties, reasons had to be presented at those levels, leading to loss of time.

Related to this was lack of feedback from decision-makers back to advice-makers, an issue that participants expressed several times. On what ground was the final decision made? This sentiment existed at all levels of the 'education line'. At the highest level, NIPH participants noted that there were some processes in the Ministry fo Health that were not very clear to them:

'How did they end up in the final decision? There were discussions in the Ministry with other actors that had input on the advice that was given.'

At the other end of the pipeline, students often did not know who was responsible for what decision, what the reasoning was, or who to contact about it. Participants argued that this was especially harmful for students in higher education in vulnerable situations who had no idea where to go with special requests.

Another challenge was the flexibility municipalities had to displa when making their own decisions between national laws and regulations and the advice provided by various actors. For NIPH experts, it was commonly a negotiation to stay true to national advice while simultaneously supporting flexible decision-making by municipalities.

'We tried to give advice based on the situation and we tried to give practical advice. We had to follow the government [legal] guidelines. Sometimes we had given advice to the government that was different from what we had received feedback on [from municipalities]. It was difficult to be as flexible as we wanted to. Sometimes the advice was not picked up, sometimes it took too long, sometimes we disagreed. We felt constrained.'

In the workshop, participants emphasised that legal requirements occasionally helped to keep the school open. For example, the right to education as codified in Norwegian laws meant that rules restrict home-schooling. On the other hand, national laws could be experienced as rigid depending on the situation. At the municipal level, a main challenge was to encourage local politicians to not be stricter than these national laws:

'If we had local regulations that were stricter, we could change them. Usually, we wanted strict national laws when cases were increasing, but when they decreased, businesses pressured to be open, and then we wanted flexibility to open again. So, we talked a lot about our preferences over national strictness across municipalities and with the counties.'

Communication and coordination

Being able to effectively communicate advice to relevant stakeholders is an important dimension of advice-making. Review participants emphasised communication on multiple levels: between national response agencies and the public; with educational stakeholders (including schools, parents, teachers, students, and related associations); with county governors and municipal medical officers; and within and between national health and educational agencies and departments. The review included discussion with participants about how effective communication was accomplished.

Communication with the public

The NIPH, Hdir and Ministry of Health and Care Services started to hold regular press conferences, broadcast from the office of the Prime Minister, joined later also by the Ministry of Education and Research Ministry of Education and Research. The Prime Minister invoked the concept of 'dugnad' to argue for solidarity, a concept integral to the Norwegian national identity meaning civic duty due to a sense of community [33].

Hdir received many questions from the onset of the pandemic. The Directorate worked daily with preorganised Q&A formats before establishing a dedicated communication platform, including a chat bot and people that could answer questions. This platform was later also used for people to obtain their vaccine certificate which made it an excellent location for public communication. Overall, it was felt that the users were satisfied with the information they received from the Hdir, which included information about the uncertainties. A lot of questions came to a special website providing an overview on what young people were asking. The website included information about psychological health for young people and was integrated with TikTok and Instagram. Finally, Hdir also established an intersectoral communication group regarding schools which started meeting in August (2021), andincluded NIPH, Udir, Hdir, the police, DRA (a communication group).

Initially, NIPH experts replied individually to questions from the public. Later, a system with a small team dedicated to e-mail responses was established (which eventually discontinued). NIPH also created a COVID-19 hotline for officials, not for the public. It was noted that the communications department got increasingly more involved in the outbreak response. The communications department was responsible for social media and media, and from the summer 2021 formulated Question and Answer sheets and redirected questions when needed. NIPH experts also wrote opinion pieces and articles in the newspapers in some cases. NIPH developed a detailed website with information on COVID-19 for schools, events, workplaces, employers, health care institutions, laboratories etc.

At Udir, a comprehensive website was developed to communicate temporary regulations during the COVID-19 pandemic in response to many legal questions from the County Governors and the public. This was based on the Infection Control Act, which the Ministry of Health regulates.

At municipal levels, special communication departments managed telephone hotlines, which according to participants included good information from the national level. They also worked closely with local media. Although time intensive and demanding, this turned out to be quite useful, because they helped inform the public efficiently. Municipal participants noted that communication to the public was not very difficult when their local rules were similar to national rules/ neighbouring municipalities. However, when rules differed, explaining these differences was costly in time and effort.

Overall, public risk perception was experienced as challenging because teachers and a proportion of parents were very concerned about infections in schools. It was noted that changing their risk perception was very difficult because the media appeared to share this concern.

'It just seemed obvious that when you gather a lot of people, especially 14-year-old pupils, this might be very dangerous, and many could become infected. It was very hard to counter that with facts.'

The new findings that teachers were not impacted more than other public professionals helped to make this easier. The NIPH school group developed three main messages as a result:

- Children transmit less than adults and do not become severely ill to the same extent as adults;
- The negative consequences of keeping children out of schools are large;
- It is the sum of all measures that will keep infection rates under control so we can allow less IPC measures among low-risk children while adults and higher risk groups have to follow more strict measures.

But it was an uphill battle to convey these messages:

'It was extremely difficult to explain why measures were different for children than others. We tried to explain that children transmitted infection to a lesser extent and that the negative consequences for children were higher, but we kept receiving the same objections again and again. The entire communication was really hard, and I don't know who could have helped us.'

This might have also been the result of the debate between authorities taking place in the medial. An example of this can be seen in a publication by the Norwegian Broadcasting Corporation based on statements from the FHI chief physician saying it was a mistake to close the schools [53]. Some review participants took it as their responsibility to be a media presence arguing for the education line's argument, often in tandem with the children's ombudsman, even though this may have been perceived as controversial.

Finally, it was noted by review participants that communication to young people was suboptimal and they lacked proper feedback on their experience (see missing evidence). Social media campaigns addressing adolescents and rules that applied to them were established after the first pandemic year, trying to explain why rules were different for children and adolescents compared to society in general.

Communication and coordination between public agencies

Despite the differences and difficulties described above, there was consensus that the group represented at the workshop had a very cohesive and good collaboration throughout the process, even though making all these connections was time consuming.

'We had a really good collaboration with all of the different actors that were promoting children and school rights and their health. The FHI [NIPH), the directorate of education, the directorate of health, we had a very good collaboration.'

The opinion was expressed that without this close collaboration, there would have been more lockdown of schools and services.

As mentioned previously, several coordinating bodies were established to deal with the school response, with those listed below mentioned during the AAR.

- Hdir intersectoral communications group;
- Bufdir intersectorial coordination group for vulnerable children;
- NIPH Leader group or crisis team;
- NIPH Infection prevention and control (IPC) group, with the NIPH school group as a sub-group;
- NIPH Test, Isolation and quarantine group (TISK);
- Ministry of Education and Research Ministry of Education and Research crisis management group;
- Udir Covid follow up meetings (Arena);
- Udir Expert group on reopening schools;
- Norwegian Directorate for Civil Protection (DSB)'s regular meetings;
- County Governor's weekly meetings.

At the regional and municipal levels, the close coordination appeared more challenging because the effect of the two lines of thinking and advice (health as infection prevention versus health as broad wellbeing) were experienced as being more pronounced. For example, at the County Governor's level, it was noted that there should have been better coordination between the health and the education lines.

'We were told to keep the kindergarten and schools open while the infection rates were high in our area and a lot of schools consequently closed... It was very difficult. We said different things in the education line and health line. Within the county level we should have been more unified and connected.'

This sentiment was echoed at the municipal level:

'It didn't feel coordinated at the higher level and there were two different lines of advice coming and we had to figure that out at our own level. Each municipality had to decide for themselves what to do with the regulations and recommendations.'

Some key spokespersons did not always seem to address the complexity of the situation for students, such as the impact of reduced school attendance and education, in a balanced and updated manner. During the workshop, some discussion ensued about the extent to which this insufficient attention was the result of lack of participation of the education line at the DSB's weekly meetings with the County Governors and the municipalities:

'It is a stable channel, but the importance of schools and kindergarten wasn't communicated in those meetings quite sufficiently.'

Finally, an example of the need for better coordination between the advice and available resources, was the NIPH testing advice in the fall of 2021. As already described, this advice was not feasible due to a shortage of tests, and this led to challenging situations for many municipalities (see Timeline). Hdir was responsible for procurement and distribution of tests, and information on availability was at times unclear to NIPH. One of the municipal participants noted:

'What FHI [NIPH] advised was not feasible at that time. The technicalities of it. It was not possible with the resources that we had. There is a coordination problem. A lot of municipalities sent back to FHI that these measures are not possible.'

Capabilities and resources

While resource scarcity and consequent stresses are common in crisis management, review participants offered a more nuanced picture of the situation for Norwegian agencies. At the national level, agencies were eventually relatively well resourced. At the regional and municipal levels, capabilities and resources were more constrained. In addition, all levels experienced pressures from and tensions with other actors that could impact their efficacy.

Challenges in scaling-up capacity

Many of the institutions had relative continuity in staffing, but participants noted that staff numbers, and hence capacity, was generally lacking to adequately respond to the crisis. At the municipal levels, medical officers were present by law, but in varying capacities without much room for new hirings. To obtain more help, several retirees came and helped with testing and vaccinations, including people who had been laid off or who were not allowed to work in other sectors, like the food sector. In addition, some of the less essential work was outsourced in municipalities who had the resources to do so, but this wasn't possible everywhere.

At the County Governor's level, people said they worked continuously without many extra resources. Not untypically, lack of resources led to an overall conservatism in trying out new directions, as the ability to find new staff to try out things was limited. Some participants argued that the reason that schools wanted to close was sometimes because they did not have enough teachers, not because of the spread of virus. Also here, retired teachers were enlisted to help.

At NIPH the subgroups developed organically during weekly outbreak meetings. Initially the school group consisted of three people, but by the end of the pandemic the team had grown to five, plus support from analysts and members from other groups. Similarly, the testing group grew from 4 to 15 people. Here, the government did provide swift budgets to be able to involve more people within the first year of the pandemic. The bottleneck here, as well as in the teaching field, was the lack of available experts able to jump in. At Hdir, a national list of available health workers was established, and this was used a lot to recruit people. However, 'everybody was fighting for the same person for testing, vaccination etc. There weren't enough people even when we had money. '

Pressures, stressors, and resilience

The workload also escalated during the pandemic. One participant likened this situation to a train which kept on speeding up, making it more difficult for new recruits to catch up.

'The expectations on our advice also escalated. In the beginning it was more general and then after a while we were expected to have more and more evidence as well as detail. The level of expectations and the need for specific information increased rapidly. It was difficult to recruit people with the necessary level of expertise. It was just like a snowball rolling.

It was mentioned at the workshop that because there generally was too much work for too few people in a high pressure, fast-paced crisis, there was often not time available to sit down and figure out how to reorganise to work more efficiently. One participant summarised the overall sentiment by noting casually that 'people have been crying in meetings ' and 'One of us said, I don't cry as much anymore as I used to '. Participants from municipalities explained that they had to report on different issues, and some of their colleagues were complaining that the Directorate should not ask for that much data. In addition to all of this, the media at times was rather harsh towards the experts, not least those working with topics covering schools, children and adolescents. To support themselves during this period, the earlier mentioned close collaboration between all the actors involved, appeared crucial. This sense of solidarity provided mutual support. In addition, small symbolic gestures made were the provision of food for the continuation of work during later hours. Professional mental health support was also provided at the NIPH, including debriefings and counselling, although it was noted that this came too late to be useful.

Finally, any type of reflexive activity was seen as not needed because the continued expectation was that the end of the pandemic would be near. For this reason, people also tended to continue working in crisis mode, continuously and unconsciously adapting to the imagined 'near-end' of the pandemic. At the time of the AAR, the pace had slowed down. However, with that also came a recent reduction of staff. For example, at the NIPH it was noted that five months ago the groups were discontinued while many staff left the institution.

`There is a revised national budget that has allocated much less funding to the public health institute, compared to what we requested.'

For example, reductions in funding at NIPH have led not only to the loss of temporary ('COVID- ') staff, but also staff with permanent positions.

Lessons learned and good practice

Motivated by questions about what they experienced went well and not so well in the advice-making process, review participants generated several lessons and good practice. Participants suggested lessons based on what they had found problematic and how they imagined these problems could be remedied. In turn, good practice suggested by participants included ways of working developed in the process that they considered exemplary. Given that AAR participants included representatives from national agencies, regional authorities, and municipalities, the practices identified could operate at any level of advice-making. The AAR team gathered all participants' suggestions and sorted them into major lessons and categories of best practice.

Kev lessons learned

The many specific problems and remedies that participants identified are summarised here under four major lessons. These are:

- Give priority to children and related stakeholders,
- Data gaps should be recognised and filled,
- Gaps in capabilities should be recognised and remedied, and
- Coordination and collaboration should be boosted further.

The tables below each major lesson contain the details of the related problems that participants experienced during the focus period, and remedies they developed and proposed in the workshop.

Give priority to children and related stakeholders

Participants emphasised that children's and related stakeholders' interests and perspectives had been less vocal or represented in the focus period than they should have been. In some situations, it became a struggle in advicemaking pay attention to the effects social distancing measures could have on children's wellbeing. Here, more direct and persistent involvement of children's interests and child or school-related stakeholders and representatives could have made a difference. Participants noted that there should have been a 'children's group' represented at a high level in all inter-agency forums and meetings from the start – with a formal position and mandate. All issues relating to children, whether health, education and other, should imply specific considerations on their behalf and with their best interests in mind.

What could have worked better?	What should be done
NIPH School Group (SG) did not have a formal position in the NIPH response organisation.	 Start SG at response outset and give it higher status. E.g. like TISK-/advice to the general population/Advice to healthcare work groups Raise evidence about children and schooling to high priority at all levels.
Children's and educational issues were generally under- represented in inter-agency forums and meetings.	 Organise a 'children's group', represented at a high level in all interagency forums and meetings from the start – with a formal position and mandate. Include Udir and Bufdir in all inter-agency meetings during crises. Include SG in inter-agency forums. Include SG and children's/schooling experts in DSB-led meetings.
Few voices from children and youth.	• Prioritise systematic and representative feedback from/about children and adolescents.
At local levels, teachers reported feeling left out.	 Acknowledge teachers' concerns. Prioritising children should also mean prioritising teachers. Give teachers more lead time to adjust according to new advice.
At local levels, parents' views were unsystematically recorded.	• Prioritise systematic and representative feedback from parents.
University and other tertiary students were not sufficiently prioritised	Prioritise tertiary students' interest and representatives.

Important data gaps should be recognised and filled

There were gaps in data, data standardisation and available evidence. Although the knowledge regarding cases, transmission and disease impact kept increasing, there was still a need for systematic knowledge regarding implemented measures, e.g. knowing how many schools were on red level or how many students were in quarantine each week, as well as data on student and teacher experiences in schools. Also, it proved impossible to conduct randomised controlled trials on the impact of targeted measures in schools, both on the effect on virus transmission and on students' general wellbeing and their learning.

What could have worked better?	W	hat should be done?
Evidence about the impact of measures on education and children was slow to accumulate, and slow to reach relevant analysts.	•	Early planning for collecting educational statistics and evidence. Share new evidence as soon as it is available – don't sit on it.
Restrictive school measures were used with little evidence about epidemiological effects as well as costs, both psychosocial, educational and economical.	•	Systematic reporting of measures used and TLM setting, when and where. Real-time tracking of measures' effects on epi outcomes. Ease conduct of studies. E.g. five RCTs were tried, but stopped by various hindrances. Include multiple agencies and stakeholders in discussions about study designs, to address concerns – as part of pandemic preparedness. Adopt longer time horizon on pandemic. Cost of measures should be explicitly assessed.
Too little analytical capacity in municipalities	•	Hire and/or train dedicated analysts in municipalities
Different data collection platforms and formats between municipalities.	•	Standardise data collection and platforms

Important gaps in capabilities should be recognised and remedied

There was an urgent need expressed for more personnel and a better understanding of available supportive resources within the organisations. Recruitment of competent experts was challenging in both the public health and education fields. The rapid growth of tasks and little time to sit down and better organise or reflect aggravated the situation. These factors led to stress and fatigue. Psychological support was lacking and at best, late. Participants recalled that strong mutual solidarity, working together and pooling of resources helped them to cope and stay resilient, in spite of intense stress and fatigue.

What could have worked better?	What should be done?
Reliance on same key staff for long response periods	 Plan for long-term response, e.g. by rotating staff into and out of response periodically. More people to share the workload. Maintain capabilities and skills, by retaining them in peacetime. Outsource activities that can be, from the outset of response.
Psychological support	 Engage counselling services from outset of response effort. Leaders should signal that their employees need some rest and do so by not working even more themselves: set an example.

Coordination and collaboration should be further boosted

Participants generally lauded the ability of different organisations to work together, pool resources, and contribute their respective strengths to advice-making. However, such coordination and collaboration did not work equally well in every situation, and more could have been done. Remedies include several ways to further improve how different actors interact and find common purpose at local, regional, and national levels, and between these levels.

What could have worked better?	What should be done?
Matching advice about testing with testing capacity.	 Agree common goals and resources available for Government, Hdir, and NIPH . Use private lab capacities. Plan more ahead of testing rollouts, including better information and enough time to prepare for those responsible for carrying out the actual testing. Clear messaging about antigen vs. PCR tests. Better communication between labs-NIPH-Hdir. Sort out logistics for acquisition and distribution, including redistribution among municipalities.
Managing challenges for children crossing municipal borders to go to school.	 Boost school measure coordination between municipalities and regions.
Confusion about NIPH and Hdir units' roles and responsibilities.	 Engage with agency leaders and peers to clarify distinctions and differences between the agencies.
Municipalities sometimes needed opportunities to meet with other municipalities in similar situations.	• Create sub-groups within each region – e.g. by TLM setting, by size, or by closeness to main city.

Good practice

The good practice listed here were recalled and contributed by the AAR's participants from their experiences with advice-making in the focus period. They are exemplary, and worth considering and even replicating in future events affecting schooling and children. They are also often the results of periods of trial, error, and learning. Each good practice listed is attributed to the agency or level where one or more participant described it had been used. But good practice can be transferrable to other organisations and levels. Hence, rather than teams in future efforts proverbially re-inventing the wheel, following these examples may help them hit the ground running. The AAR team has summarised the best practice identified by review participants into four themes, each presented in a separate table: 1) Data, analyses, and research outputs, 2) Organisation, 3) Collaboration, and 4) Public communication.

Data, analyses, and research outputs

Agency/level	Good practice
Several national agencies	Prioritise dedicating specific staff in each agency to work on children's issues – will also help as contact points for collaborations.
Several national agencies	Having a preparedness registry with general ethical approval - made analyses easy.
Several national agencies	Dedicated advice-giving groups with continuing mandate – to anchor and enhance skills.
NIPH	Fast piloting of different testing strategies – common goal, involving universities and NIPH TISK group, different schools, community doctors, microbiologists, and Hdir.
NIPH	School group post-wave summary reports highlighting surveillance data, incidence, and situation – very useful for showing others the epidemiological situation and describe what was done, as well as for publications.
Udir	Persistent advocacy for children's rights in public, to ministry, to counties.
Municipalities	Local data for municipal advice-making – very valuable and highly trusted.
Municipalities	Local data analysts where available - ensured real time evidence on infections at schools.
Municipalities	TLM model was useful - predictable guidelines, matched to handbook with risk profiles, contagion thresholds, and expected reactions from different populations.

Organisation

Agency/level	Good practice
Several agencies, municipalities	Daily meetings that included many kinds of staff – help to share awareness of situation and challenges, and offered mutual support – hence, boosts resilience.
NIPH	Establish School Group, include experienced people, and eventually support staff to handle some of the many routine tasks.
NIPH	Culture of informal mutual support – staff help and support each other's mental ability to cope.
Udir	Compact, visible, and active operational management group of about five people, many top-management - close to everything, could act, stayed on top of the pandemic.

Collaboration

Agency/level	Good practice
Several national agencies	Working groups combining all relevant agencies and directorates, implemented from the outset of response.
Several national agencies	Unified response among national agencies to government assignments – coordinate advice between the 'lines' (silos)
NIPH	Two-way webinars for municipal public health doctors.
NIPH	Multiple disciplines combined in NIPH TISK group.
NIPH	Collaboration between NIPH TISK and School groups.
NIPH	Collaboration with Norwegian Paediatric Association - on guidelines for children, feedback on experience from paediatric wards, collaboration on communicating to paediatric patient organizations and publications etc.
Hdir	Regular meetings NIPH-Udir about web-based infection control guidelines, and many other issues related to children.
Hdir	Collaboration with school nurses, and webinars when big announcements were made.
Municipalities	Easy access from municipalities to NIPH – needed for health knowledge, resilience, and support.
Municipalities	Collaboration within municipalities between school leaders and municipal public health doctors – important for trust building.
Municipalities	Weekly meetings with county governors.

Public communication

Agency/level	Good practice
Several national agencies	Transparent and honest communication about what we know and what we don't - well received
NIPH	Media commentaries and similar contributions – helped explain advice and measures.
Hdir	Weekly survey of public trust – useful for, e.g. shaping outputs to public.
Hdir	Hotlines and Chatbot – answer questions from stakeholders and public, relieves pressure on organisations.
Hdir, municipalities	Public communication in many languages – reaches most/ all communities.
Municipalities	Regular meetings for schools, including all kinds of school staff (e.g. teachers, cleaners)

References

- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Conducting in-action and after-action reviews of the public health response to COVID-19. Stockholm: ECDC; 2020. Available at: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/In-Action-and-After-Action-Reviews-of-the-public-health-response-to-COVID-19.pdf</u>
- World Health Organization (WHO). Guidance for after action review (AAR). Geneva: WHO; 2019. Available at: https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/311537/WHO-WHE-CPI-2019.4-eng.pdf?sequence=1
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). Best practice recommendations for conducting after-action reviews to enhance public health preparedness. Stockholm: ECDC; 2018. Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/public-health-preparedness-best-practice-recommendations.pdf
- World Health Organization (WHO). Guidance for conducting a country COVID-19 intra-action review (IAR). Geneva: WHO; 2020. Available at: <u>https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/333419/WHO-2019-nCoV-Country_IAR-2020.1-eng.pdf?sequence=1</u>
- European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC). One-day in-action review (IAR) protocol in the context of COVID-19. Stockholm: ECDC; 2021. Available at: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/One-day-inaction-review-protocol.pdf</u>
- Salajan A, Tsolova S, Ciotti M, Suk JE. To what extent does evidence support decision making during infectious disease outbreaks? A scoping literature review. Evidence & Policy. 2020;16(3):453-75. Available at: <u>https://bristoluniversitypressdigital.com/view/journals/evp/16/3/article-p453.xml</u>
- Rubin O, Errett NA, Upshur R, Baekkeskov E. The challenges facing evidence-based decision making in the initial response to COVID-19. Scandinavian Journal of Public Health. 2021;49(7):790-6. Available at: <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/1403494821997227</u>
- Rutter H, Wolpert M, Greenhalgh T. Managing uncertainty in the covid-19 era. Bmj. 2020;370 Available at: https://www.bmj.com/content/370/bmj.m3349
- Colman E, Wanat M, Goossens H, Tonkin-Crine S, Anthierens S. Following the science? Views from scientists on government advisory boards during the COVID-19 pandemic: a qualitative interview study in five European countries. BMJ global health. 2021;6(9):e006928. Available at: <u>https://qh.bmj.com/content/6/9/e006928.abstract</u>
- Vickery J, Atkinson P, Lin L, Rubin O, Upshur R, Yeoh E-K, et al. Challenges to evidence-informed decision-making in the context of pandemics: qualitative study of COVID-19 policy advisor perspectives. BMJ global health. 2022;7(4):e008268. Available at: <u>https://gh.bmj.com/content/7/4/e008268.abstract</u>
- Stebbings S, Rotevatn TA, Larsen VB, Surén P, Elstrøm P, Greve-Isdahl M, et al. Experience with open schools and preschools in periods of high community transmission of COVID-19 in Norway during the academic year of 2020/2021. BMC Public Health. 2022;22(1):1454. Available at: <u>https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-022-13868-5</u>
- Askim J, Bergström T. Between lockdown and calm down. Comparing the COVID-19 responses of Norway and Sweden. Local Government Studies. 2021;48(2):291-311. Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/03003930.2021.1964477
- Christensen T, Lægreid P. Scientization under pressure—The problematic role of expert bodies during the handling of the COVID-19 pandemic. Public Organization Review. 2022;22(2):291-307. Available at: <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11115-022-00605-0</u>
- 14. European Commission. Organisation and governance. 2022. Available at: <u>https://eurydice.eacea.ec.europa.eu/national-education-systems/norway/organisation-and-governance</u>
- 15. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Developmen (OECD)t. Education Policy Outlook 2015: Making Reforms Happen. Paris: OECD; 2015. Available at: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264225442-en</u>
- 16. Baekkeskov E. Explaining science-led policy-making: Pandemic deaths, epistemic deliberation and ideational trajectories. Policy sciences. 2016;49(4):395-419. Available at: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11077-016-9264-y
- 17. Jasanoff S. The fifth branch: science advisers as policymakers. Harvard University Press; 1998. Available at: https://www.hup.harvard.edu/books/9780674300620
- Liverani M, Hawkins B, Parkhurst JO. Political and institutional influences on the use of evidence in public health policy. A systematic review. PloS one. 2013;8(10):e77404. Available at: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24204823/</u>
- World Health Organization (WHO). Evidence, policy, impact: WHO guide for evidence-informed decision-making. Geneva: WHO; 2021. Available at: <u>https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/350994/9789240039872-eng.pdf?sequence=1</u>
- Brownson RC, Fielding JE, Maylahn CM. Evidence-based public health: a fundamental concept for public health practice. Annual review of public health. 2009;30:175-201. Available at: https://www.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.031308.100134

- Haghani M, Bliemer MC. Covid-19 pandemic and the unprecedented mobilisation of scholarly efforts prompted by a health crisis: Scientometric comparisons across SARS, MERS and 2019-nCoV literature. Scientometrics. 2020;125:2695-726. Available at: <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11192-020-03706-z</u>
- 22. Yeo-Teh NSL, Tang BL. An alarming retraction rate for scientific publications on Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). Accountability in research. 2021;28(1):47-53. Available at: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/08989621.2020.1782203</u>
- 23. Collins HM, Evans R. The third wave of science studies: Studies of expertise and experience. Social studies of science. 2002;32(2):235-96. Available at: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0306312702032002003
- 24. Rajan D, Koch K, Rohrer K, Bajnoczki C, Socha A, Voss M, et al. Governance of the Covid-19 response: a call for more inclusive and transparent decision-making. BMJ global health. 2020;5(5):e002655. Available at: https://gh.bmj.com/content/5/5/e002655.abstract
- Van Damme W, Dahake R, Delamou A, Ingelbeen B, Wouters E, Vanham G, et al. The COVID-19 pandemic: diverse contexts; different epidemics—how and why? BMJ global health. 2020;5(7):e003098. Available at: https://gh.bmj.com/content/5/7/e003098.abstract
- 26. Lu X, Xue L. Managing the unexpected: Sense-making in the Chinese emergency management system. Public Administration. 2016;94(2):414-29. Available at: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/padm.12261</u>
- Rubin O, de Vries DH. Diverging sensemaking frames during the initial phases of the COVID-19 outbreak in Denmark. Policy Design and Practice. 2020;3(3):277-96. Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/25741292.2020.1809809
- Baekkeskov E. Same threat, different responses: Experts steering politicians and stakeholders in 2009 H1N1 vaccination policy-making. Public Administration. 2016;94(2):299-315. Available at: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/padm.12244</u>
- Baekkeskov E, Rubin O. Why pandemic response is unique: powerful experts and hands-off political leaders. Disaster Prevention and Management. 2014;23(1):81-93. Available at: <u>https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/DPM-05-2012-0060/full/html</u>
- Carstensen MB, Schmidt VA. Power through, over and in ideas: conceptualizing ideational power in discursive institutionalism. Journal of European public policy. 2016;23(3):318-37. Available at: <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13501763.2015.1115534</u>
- 31. Laage-Thomsen J, Frandsen SL. Pandemic preparedness systems and diverging COVID-19 responses within similar public health regimes: a comparative study of expert perceptions of pandemic response in Denmark, Norway, and Sweden. Globalization and Health. 2022;18(1):1-18. Available at: https://globalizationandhealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12992-022-00799-4
- 32. Satterfield JM, Spring B, Brownson RC, Mullen EJ, Newhouse RP, Walker BB, et al. Toward a transdisciplinary model of evidence-based practice. The Milbank Quarterly. 2009;87(2):368-90. Available at: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1468-0009.2009.00561.x</u>
- Lindblad S, Wärvik G-B, Berndtsson I, Jodal E-B, Lindqvist A, Messina Dahlberg G, et al. School lockdown? Comparative analyses of responses to the COVID-19 pandemic in European countries. European Educational Research Journal. 2021;20(5):564-83. Available at: <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/14749041211041237</u>
- Helsedirektoratet. Socio-economic assessments of infection control measures (COVID-19). Oslo: Helsedirektoratet; 2021. Available at: https://www.helsedirektoratet.no/rapporter/samfunnsokonomisk-vurdering-av-smitteverntiltak-covid-19
- Norwegian Government. Midlertidig lov om forskriftshjemmel for å avhjelpe konsekvenser av utbruddet av covid-19 m.v. Lovdata; 2021. Available at: <u>https://lovdata.no/dokument/NLO/lov/2020-03-27-17</u>
- 36. Utdanningsdirektoratet. Informasjon om midlertidig regelverk for grunnopplæringen om covid-19. Oslo: Utdanningsdirektoratet; 2021. Available at: <u>https://www.udir.no/regelverkstolkninger/opplaring/midlertidig-regelverk-for-utdanningssektoren-covid-19/?depth=0&print=1</u>
- 37. Bufdir. Utsatte barn og unges tjenestetilbud under COVID-19 pandemien. Statusrapport 1. Oslo: Bufdir; 2020. Available at: https://www2.bufdir.no/Bibliotek/Dokumentside/?docId=BUF00005136
- Winje BA, Ofitserova TS, Brynildsrud OB, Greve-Isdahl M, Bragstad K, Rykkvin R, et al. Comprehensive contact tracing, testing and sequencing show limited transmission of SARS-CoV-2 between children in schools in Norway, August 2020 to May 2021. Microorganisms. 2021;9(12):2587. Available at: <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2076-2607/9/12/2587</u>
- Telle K, Jørgensen SB, Hart R, Greve-Isdahl M, Kacelnik O. Secondary attack rates of COVID-19 in Norwegian families: a nation-wide register-based study. European journal of epidemiology. 2021;36(7):741-8. Available at: <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10654-021-00760-6</u>
- 40. Regjeringen. Skolen etter koronapandemien Et løft for trivsel og læring. Oslo: Regjeringen; 2021. Available at: https://www.regjeringen.no/no/dokumenter/skolen-etter-koronapandemien/id2861088/
- 41. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. SARS-CoV-2 Variants of Concern as of 23 September 2021. Stockholm: ECDC; 2021. Available at: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/covid-19/variants-concern</u>

- Magnusson K, Nygård K, Methi F, Vold L, Telle K. Occupational risk of COVID-19 in the first versus second epidemic wave in Norway, 2020. Eurosurveillance. 2021;26(40):2001875. Available at: https://www.eurosurveillance.org/content/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2021.26.40.2001875
- 43. Helsedirektoratet. Brev om justert svar på covid-19 oppdrag nr. 576 fra Helse- og omsorgsdepartementet -Vurdering av situasjonen og behov for justering i nasjonale smitteverntiltak. Oslo: Helsedirektoratet; 2021. Available at: <a href="https://www.helsedirektoratet.no/tema/beredskap-og-krisehandtering/koronavirus/faglig-grunnlag-til-helse-og-omsorgsdepartementet-covid-19/Oppdrag%20576%20-%20Vurdering%20av%20situasjonen%20og%20behov%20for%20justering%20i%20nasjonale%20smitteverntiltak.pdf//att achment/inline/446f2717-0302-43ab-8eb5-2d58ee681dc5:17e809dc4d26a6fa2f4a399ebc88bb3a4516cec5/Oppdrag%20576%20-%20Vurdering%20av%20situasjonen%20og%20behov%20for%20justering%20i%20nasjonale%20smitteverntiltak.pdf
- 44. National Collaborating Centre for Methods and Tools. Living Rapid Review Update 17: What is the specific role of daycares and schools in COVID-19 transmission? : National Collaborating Centre for Methods and Tools; 2021. Available at: <u>https://www.nccmt.ca/uploads/media/0001/02/e7b567a4ea25117ff577c83c9e2d8963100af547.pdf</u>
- 45. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. COVID-19 in children and the role of school settings in transmission second update. Stockholm: ECDC; 2021. Available at: <u>https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/COVID-19-in-children-and-the-role-of-school-settings-in-transmission-second-update.pdf</u>
- 46. Brandal LT, Ofitserova TS, Meijerink H, Rykkvin R, Lund HM, Hungnes O, et al. Minimal transmission of SARS-CoV-2 from paediatric COVID-19 cases in primary schools, Norway, August to November 2020. Eurosurveillance. 2021;26(1):2002011. Available at: <u>https://www.eurosurveillance.org/content/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2020.26.1.2002011?crawler=true</u>
- Utdanningsdirektoratet. Utdanningsspeilet 2022. Oslo: Utdanningsdirektoratet; 2022. Available at: <u>https://www.udir.no/tall-oq-forskning/publikasjoner/utdanningsspeilet/utdanningsspeilet-2022/</u>
- 48. OsloMet. Ungdata,. Oslo: OsloMet. Available at: https://www.oslomet.no/en/research/research-projects/ungdata
- 49. Universitetet i Oslo. Retorikk om pandemi. Oslo: Universitetet i Oslo; 2022. Available at: https://www.hf.uio.no/imk/english/research/projects/pandemic-rhetoric/
- Johansen TB, Astrup E, Jore S, Nilssen H, Dahlberg BB, Klingenberg C, et al. Infection prevention guidelines and considerations for paediatric risk groups when reopening primary schools during COVID-19 pandemic, Norway, April 2020. Eurosurveillance. 2020;25(22):2000921. Available at: <u>https://www.eurosurveillance.org/content/10.2807/1560-</u> 7917.ES.2020.25.22.2000921?crawler=true
- 51. Helsingen LM, Refsum E, Gjøstein DK, Løberg M, Bretthauer M, Kalager M, et al. The COVID-19 pandemic in Norway and Sweden–threats, trust, and impact on daily life: a comparative survey. BMC public health. 2020;20:1-10. Available at: <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1186/s12889-020-09615-3</u>
- 52. United Nations. Convention on the Rights of the Child, Article 28. Geneva: United Nations; 1990. Available at: https://www.ohchr.org/en/instruments-mechanisms/instruments/convention-rights-child
- 53. Norwegian Broadcasting Corporation. Online article. Available at: <u>Preben Aavitsland, overlege FHI, mener det var en tabbe å</u> stenge skolene under pandemien – NRK Norge – Oversikt over nyheter fra ulike deler av landet

Annex 1. Literature reviewed in preparation

Askim J, Bergström T, Between lockdown and calm down. Comparing the COVID-19 responses of Norway and Sweden, 2021. Local Government Studies, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03003930.2021.1964477</u>

Bjordal J, Astrup E, Jore S, Nilssen H, Dahlberg B, Klingenberg C, et al. Infection prevention guidelines and considerations for paediatric risk groups when reopening primary schools during COVID-19 pandemic, Norway, April 2020. EuroSurveill. 2020;25(22):pii=2000921.<u>https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-917.ES.2020.25.22.2000921</u>

Halle Julin C, Robertson A, Hungnes O, Tunheim G, Bekkevold T, Laake I, et al. 2021. 'Household Transmission of SARS-CoV-2: A Prospective Longitudinal Study Showing Higher Viral Load and Increased Transmissibility of the Alpha Variant Compared to Previous Strains ' Microorganisms 9, no. 11: 2371. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9112371

Lindblad S, Wärvik G.B, Berndtsson I, Jodal E.B, Lindqvist A, Messina Dahlberg G, et al. School lockdown? Comparative analyses of responses to the COVID-19 pandemic in European countries. 2021. European Educational Research Journal, 20(5), 564–583. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/14749041211041237</u>

Rotevatn TA, Bergstad Larsen V, Johansen, Bjordal T, et al. Transmission of SARS-CoV-2 in Norwegian schools during academic year 2020-21: population wide, register based cohort study. BMJ Medicine 2022;1:e000026. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjmed-2021-000026

Rotevatn TA, Nygård K, Espenhain L, Legarth R, Møller KL, Sarvikivi E, et al. When schools were open for in-person teaching during the COVID-19 pandemic - the nordic experience on control measures and transmission in schools during the delta wave. BMC Public Health. 2023 Jan 9;23(1):62. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-14906-y</u>

Stebbings S, Rotevatn TA, Larsen VB, Surén P, Elstrøm P, Greve-Isdahl M, et al. Experience with open schools and preschools in periods of high community transmission of COVID-19 in Norway during the academic year of 2020/2021. BMC Public Health. 2022 Jul 30;22(1):1454. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-022-13868-5</u>.

Telle K, Jørgensen SB, Hart R. Greve-Isdahl M, Kacelnik O. Secondary attack rates of COVID-19 in Norwegian families: a nation-wide register-based study. Eur J Epidemiol 36, 741–748 (2021). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10654-021-00760-6</u>

Torill A, Rotevatn P, Greve-Isdahl M, Surén P, Johansen T, Astrup E; School Closure Versus Targeted Control Measures for SARS-CoV-2 Infection. Pediatrics May 2022; 149 (5). <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2021-055071</u>

Winje BA, Ofitserova TS, Brynildsrud OB, Greve-Isdahl M, Bragstad K, Rykkvin R, et al. Comprehensive Contact Tracing, Testing and Sequencing Show Limited Transmission of SARS-CoV-2 between Children in Schools in Norway, August 2020 to May 2021. Microorganisms. 2021 Dec 14;9(12):2587. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9122587

FHI Guidelines for municipal doctors, including advise on what IPC measures to implement in schools in various epidemiological settings. <u>https://www.fhi.no/nettpub/overvaking-vurdering-og-handtering-av-covid-19-epidemien-i-kommunen/ti-trinn2/tiltaksvurdering/?term=&h=1#saerlig-om-tiltak-i-skoler-og-barnehager</u>

FHI Information and advice concerning test programmes in schools: https://www.fhi.no/historisk-arkiv/covid-19/koronavirusveilederen-arkiv/jevnlig-testing/

FHI Information on children and adolescents on our webpage: <u>https://www.fhi.no/en/op/novel-coronavirus-facts-advice/facts-and-general-advice/advice-and-information-for-children-and-adolescents/</u>. These pages also included information on the available evidence on disease burden in children and transmission in schools.

Smitte av covid-19 hos barn og unge etter skolestart høsten 2021 Available Nov 2021

Annex 2. Workshop programme overview

After-Action Review on COVID-19 school measures advicemaking in Norway

Location: FHI, Lovisenberggata 8, room 1025

Date	Activities
Tuesday Jan 24 – A	rrival & interviews
13:00 - 14:00	Brief coordination meeting at the Hub hotel with ECDC & FHI team
14:30 - 17:30	Online (Teams) interviews with stakeholders not in the workshop
Wednesday Jan 25	– Workshop 'The use of evidence '
9:00 - 10:00	Session 1: Introduction of project
	The goal of the AAR is to foster opportunities for discussion and dialogue on the role of evidence in decision-making regarding technical advice for the continued operation of schools in the periods before and after holidays: the weeks after summer holiday 2021 (early fall, delta wave) and Christmas holiday 2021/22 (omicron wave). Participants are invited to reflect on the advice-giving decision-making process and help identify best practice suggestions for improvement.
	Word of welcome (5 min.) – Trygve Ottersen / Are Berg, FHI
	 Introduction of project (10 min.) – Svetla Tsolova, ECDC
	WHO IAR/AAR activities (10 min.) – Jussi Sane, WHO Europe
	Brief round of introduction (15 min.)
	Review of AAR activities (20 min.) Danny de Vries, Associate Professor, Department of Anthropology, University of Amsterdam
	10.00-10.30 Coffee break
10:30 - 12:00	Session 2: What happened and who was involved
	In this session we plan to discuss a preliminary timeline of key decision/advice giving events and
	trace the processes (formal and informal) related to technical decisions regarding formal advice(s)
	to school closures. This also entails mapping out the various stakeholders that participants had
12.00 12.00	
12:00 - 13:00	Lunch & Dreak
13.00 - 10.00	Here we will discuss how evidence influenced the advice-giving decision-making process as well as what evidence was available and how it was used (or not used). The purpose of the session is not to uncover 'mistakes' or 'good decisions' (with the benefit of hindsight), but to understand why the decision-making dynamics unfolded as they did and what role evidence played in these dynamics. Participants will be asked to identify how and when evidence was brought into the advice's decision-making process, and the response to it.
Thursday Jan 26 – v	workshop 'learnings'
09:00 - 10:30	Session 4: How did decision makers make sense of the situation?
	In this session, participants' opinions will be collected to get a variety of perspectives on why the decision-making process of the formal advice unfolded as it did. Participants should also reflect on how various professional backgrounds and experiences; institutional practices and procedures, and the type and availability of evidence shaped and defined sensemaking. 10.30-11.00 Coffee break
11:00 - 12:00	Session 5: What can be learned? Any need for change? How can new initiatives be
	implemented and monitored? Identify and discuss major lessons learned about the use of evidence during key decision-making processes regarding advice related to school closures or physical attendance. What can be done to
	improve gaps or challenges and to sustain best practice?
12:00 - 13:00	Lunch & break
13:00 - 14:00	Session 5 (continued)
14:00 - 15:00	Session 6: Wrap up, closing and evaluation
	Opportunity to reflect on the consultation process itself, but also on the outcomes. Agreement on
	the next steps, including the writing process for the final report. The session will be closed with a brief evaluation
Friday Jan 27 – deh	rief and follow-up interviews
10:00 - 12:00	Follow-up interviews
13:00 - 14:00	Session 7: Hot Debrief
	Consultants will review preliminary findings to all interested parties, verify and validate the findings,
	and review agreements for next steps.
14:30	Follow-up interviews

Annex 3. Interview guide

Part 1: What happened, who was involved and how did they make sense of the situation?

Involvement

- 1. What does your institution do? What is your role?
- 2. What was the role of your institution in the advice-giving process? How were you included?
 - a. If not included: Did you want to be? Why were you not involved in the advice making process?
- 3. *If role in advice making*: can you map out the various stakeholders or groups that you were involved in during the advice-making process?
 - a. If you were to rate each of these stakeholders by the amount of influence they had on the decisionmaking process, who would have had the most influence? (1=low, 2=medium, 3=high)
 - b. If you were to rate each of these stakeholders by the level of interest they had in the decision, who would have had the highest level of interest? (1=low, 2=medium, 3=high)

Sense-making analysis

- 4. When you first heard about the Alpha variant, to what extent could you apply your previous experience with similar events?
- 5. Using the Cynefin framework, which of the following descriptions fits best with the way that you experienced the event: complex, complicated, chaotic, or obvious/simple?

Part 2: Why did it happen? How did evidence contribute? Why did the decision develop the way it did?

For reference and probing: Major themes of the Evidence-Based Public Health framework, by category

Research evidence	Resources	Population characteristics	Environment and organisational context
Objectivity	Human resources and institutional memory	Socio-political factors (populism, economic interests, etc.)	Intersectoral
Uncertainty	Capacity for knowledge translation	Cross-border issues	Economic
Time pressure	Situational awareness	Media influence and citizen participation	Institutional and legal

Evidence in advice-making

- 6. What struck you as most influential on the way that the advice-making process developed? Why?
 - a. Think beyond research evidence, also think about resources, population characteristics or environmental and organisational contexts.
- 7. To what extent do you feel that the advice made was 'evidence-based'? Why/why not?
 - a. What value and weight did experts and decision-makers place on different pieces of evidence?
 - b. What happened when there was no conclusive scientific evidence available?
 - c. What types of scientific evidence were looked at? How was this evidence gathered? How was it interpreted?
 - d. What other factors were looked at alongside the evidence and how were these balanced against each other when decisions were made?
- 8. How has evidence been used to inform decisions made during this period? How did decision makers adapt evidence to apply it in their own context?
 - a. How does it compare to earlier waves?
- 9. Could you give an example of when evidence was used well / not used well?
 - a. How did you determine if evidence was used well or not well?
 - b. What monitoring mechanisms do you use?
- 10. Who assessed the impact of the advice and how did they do so?

Implementation

- 11. How did you understood and implement the advice? Were there unclarities?
- 12. Were you able to provide feedback about implementation?
- 13. How did the advice change the epidemiological situation?

Part 3: What can be learned? What should change? How can change be implemented and monitored?

- 14. What were the main lessons learned from this event, with respect to evidence-based decision-making?
- 15. What should change, with respect to the evidence-based decision-making process?
- 16. Have you seen any changes in the decision-making process since the event? To what extent have these changes benefitted the use of evidence in the process?

Closing: Is there anything else you would like to add?

Annex 4. Informed consent form

After-Action Review of evidence-based decision making about school closures during COVID-19

The goal of this project is to conduct an After-Action Review (AAR) on evidence-based decision makingduring COVID-19. This AAR looks at the advice-giving process in Sweden for the continued operation of schools during COVID-19 with particular emphasis on the Alpha phase (December 2020 until June 2021). The central question is how evidence has been used to inform recommendations.

You have been identified as a stakeholder who has been part of the advice-making process, and this is why you are asked to participate in this exercise.

- Your participation in the interview/workshop is entirely voluntary, and if you agree to take part, you are free to change your mind or withdraw at any time without consequences.
- If you agree to take part in the interview/workshop, any processing of your personal data will comply with Regulation (EU) 2018/1725 and Swedish national law. ECDC is the data controller of this processing operation, and the data is collected and stored by the Amsterdam Institute for Global Health and Development on its behalf, in its role as processor of the data.
- With your agreement, we may want to quote some of what you say in a country and/or aggregated report, but we will do so in a way that ensures that it cannot be ascribed to you.
- With your agreement, we may want to include your name and institutional affiliation in an Annex that lists the informants who have contributed to this case study project.
- With your agreement, we may want to record the conversation which will only be used for our notes and be deleted after the project finishes.

As a data subject, you have the right of access and rectification of your personal data. Feel free to ask any questions you may have about the interview or the processing of your personal data. If you have questions after the interview/workshop is over, please contact Jonathan Suk at ECDC: Jonathan.Suk@ecdc.europa.eu

Please check 'yes' or 'no' by each of the following statements, and then sign and date the document in the space provided below.

		Yes	No
1.	I agree for this conversation to be audio recorded and understand that the recording will be used for notetaking only and deleted after the project.		
2.	I agree to having my words used as quotes in the final report, and I understand that my words will be anonymized so that it will not be possible to ascribe any of my comments to me.		
3.	I agree to having my name and institution included in an Annex at the end of the final report that lists the informants who have contributed to this case study project.		

Signature: _

Name (in CAPITALS): _____

Place & Date: ____

Annex 5. Timeline of relevant advice given

This timeline is based on information provided during the workshop and is not a complete overview. It also includes some policy changes (bold).

Period	Advice	Advice from:	Advice to:
April. 2020	Open the schools with measures in kindergarten and schools	Bufdir, Udir, NIPH	Hdir, Ministry of Families and Children
Dec. 2020	Use frequent testing in schools	NIPH contact tracing & test unit	Hdir
Spring 2021	Replace distance learning with frequent testing	NIPH contact tracing & test unit	Unclear
Easter 2021	Keep schools open	Munic, PH doctor	Lillestrøm Kommune
Weeks 17-23 2021	Use drop-in testing in high schools, mass testing in some	Munic. PH doctor	Lillestrøm Kommune
27 May 2021	National Green Light	NIPH. Udir and Hdir	All schools
Spring/Summer 2021	Replace quarantines with testing regime	NIPH, Udir and Hdir	Ministry of Health and Ministry of Education and Research
Spring/Summer 2021	Extend rules of absence	Udir	Ministry of Education and Research
Spring/Summer 2021	Plan and publish info early	NIPH, Udir and Udir	Ministry of Health and Ministry of Education and Research
June. 2021	Prioritise vaccination of teachers	MOE	All schools
Summer 2021	Green light after summer	NIPH, Udir and Hdir	Ministry of Health and Ministry of Education and Research
Summer 2021	Replace guarantine with testing regime	NIPH Udir	Ministry of Health
Summer 2021	Need for more logistics and tests for testing regime after summer vacation	NIPH contact tracing unit and	Ministry of Health outbreak
Summer 2021	Explore and use regular testing rather than guarantine	NIPH testing unit	Linclear
Aug. 2021	National Green Light, but local yellow or red permissible if high transmission	NIPH	Municipalities, schools, school
Aug. 2021	Use testing rather than quarantine for unvaccinated contacts	NIPH	Municipalities, schools, school owners
Aug. 2021	Keep kids in school and schools open	NIPH	Municipalities, schools, school owners
30 Aug. 2021	Testing high school students twice per week	Munic. PH doctor	Bærum Kommune schools
Aug. 2021	Avoid school closures at Christmas 2021	Munic. PH doctor	NIPH. Oslo Kommune
Aug. 2021	Avoid mass testing of children	Munic. PH doctor	NIPH, Oslo Kommune
Aug. 2021	Abandon traffic light model	Munic. PH doctor	NIPH. Oslo Kommune
Aug. 2021	Vaccinate teachers	Munic. PH doctor	Lillestrøm Kommune Tisk unit
Sept. 2021	Too few tests	NIPH	Municipalities
Sept. 2021	Detailed logs of spread in each school	Munic. PH doctor	politicians
20 0ept. 202 1			Ministry of Health
25 Sept. 2021	Return to normal in schools and kindergartens	Hdir, Udir, NIPH	Municipalities
25 Sept. 2021	TLM only to be used for local outbreaks, by local authorities	Hdir, Udir, NIPH	Municipalities
Autumn 2021	Use home testing rather than school closures, etc.	group	Municipalities
Nov. 2021	school social activities	school group	Munic. PH doctors
Nov. 2021	Use frequent testing	NIPH	Municipalities
Nov. 2021	Set TLM to yellow or red if needed according to local situation	NIPH	Municipalities
7 Dec. 2021	Policy change: TLM re-introduced nationally		
16 Dec. 2021	Policy change: Grades 1–10 yellow, 11–13 on red light nationally		
9 Dec. 2021	Move low grades to yellow, and high schools to red	Munic. PH doctor	school director, high school principals
11 Dec. 2021	Move grades 1-13 to yellow	Hdir, NIPH	Ministry of Health
11 Dec. 2021	Advice to not extend Xmas break	Hdir, NIPH	Ministry of Health
16 Dec. 2021	Add two days to Xmas holiday	Munic. PH doctor	Bærum Kommune local school director
21 Dec. 2021	Home test all students prior to return to school	Munic. PH doctor	Bærum Kommune local school director
27 Dec. 2021	Home test all students prior to return to school	NIPH, UDIR and Hdir	Municipalities and Ministry of Health
13 Jan. 2022	Policy change: Green light for grades 11–13 nationally		
21 Jan. 2022	Use testing rather than TLM	NIPH testing unit, NIPH	Municipalities and Ministry of Health
21 Jan. 2022	Assess proportionality locally, rather than one national rule	NIPH school group, NIPH	Municipalities
25 Jan. 2022	Let teachers test rather than guarantine	NIPH	Ministry of Health
25 Jan. 2022	Remove social distancing measures in schools (green light)	NIPH	Ministry of Health
25 Jan. 2022	Test only symptomatic cases	NIPH	Ministry of Health
Jan. 2022	Abandon incidence in age group as primary indicator	NIPH	Municipalities
Jan. 2022	Consider other indicators	NIPH	Municipalities
17 Jan. 2022	two tests/week for all 1–10 grade students	Munic. PH doctor	Bærum Kommune schools
12 Feb. 2022	Policy change: All school measures lifted nationally		

European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC)

Gustav III:s Boulevard 40 16973 Solna, Sweden

Tel. +46 858601000 ECDC.info@ecdc.europa.eu

www.ecdc.europa.eu

Follow ECDC on social media

Twitter: @ECDC_EU

Facebook: www.facebook.com/ECDC.EU

Linkedin: www.linkedin.com/company/ecdc/



Publications Office of the European Union